UNIVERSITY OF CAPE COAST

FINANCIAL LITERACY AND RETIREMENT PLANNING OF EMPLOYEES IN GHANA IMMIGRATION SERVICE

BY

PAMELA GODWYLL

Dissertation Submitted to the Department of Management of the School of
Business, College of Humanities and Legal Studies, University of Cape Coast
in partial fulfillment of requirements for award of Master of Business
Administration Degree in General Management

JUNE 2018

DECLARATION

Candidate's Declaration

I hereby declare that the dissertation is the result of my own original research and that no part of it has been presented for another degree in this university or elsewhere.

Candidate's Signature:	Date:
Name: Pamela Godwyll	
Supervisor's Declaration	
I hereby declare that the preparation and presenta	ation of the dissertation wa

I hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of the dissertation was supervised in accordance with the guidelines on supervision of dissertation laid down by the University of Cape Coast.

Supervisor's Signature: Date:

Name: Siaw Frimpong, PhD

ABSTRACT

The financial systems of the 21st Century have been growing with speed, sophistication and becoming more complex world over. Per this, the economic and social environment in which people take financial decisions has also changed drastically. This has increased individual employees' responsibility in managing their own finances and securing their financial freedom. The study examined the relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in Ghana Immigration Service. The quantitative research design was employed. Stratified random sampling method was used to sample a total of 400 respondents. Data obtained from respondents were coded and analyzed with Statistical Product and Service Solutions (SPSS) version 21. Questionnaires were employed in the collection of data to address the research objectives. The data were personally collected by the researcher after explaining the purpose and assuring respondents of confidentiality. The study discovered high levels of financial literacy among employees of Ghana Immigration Service. They were knowledgeable about personal budget, use of ATM, wrong debit, bank account interest, loan interest, bounced cheque and purchasing power of money driven inflation. The study further discovered a positive effect of financial literacy on retirement planning and preparation. Thus, as the financial literacy of the employees with the Ghana Immigration Service increased, it corresponded with their retirement planning and preparations. It therefore recommends that employees are periodically advised by financial experts and analysts during meetings on the benefits inherent in utilizing one's financial knowledge since it has an impact on the overall wellbeing.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to appreciate those who journeyed with me through this voyage and left an indelible mark on me as my writing of my dissertation come to an end. First and foremost, am thankful to Almighty God who gives knowledge, wisdom and understanding. My sincere gratitude goes to my supervisor Dr. Siaw Frimpong for his tireless support and guidance throughout the study. I am also grateful to all the lecturers in the University of Cape coast for their valuable contribution towards my academic study in the University not forgetting my study group members.

I would like to show my appreciation to all the staff of the Ghana Immigration Service who took time out of their busy schedules to answer the questionnaires. I would like to acknowledge every author whose work is cited in the referencing, their studies are the foundation upon which young scholars like us build. Finally, my utmost appreciation goes to my loving and caring family who has stood by me all these years, helping me to attain the height I have reached today.

© University of Cape Coast

DEDICATION

To my family

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
DECLARATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
Background to the Study	1
Statement of the Problem	3
Purpose of the Study	4
Objectives of the Study	4
Research Questions	4
Hypotheses	5
Significance of the Study	5
Delimitations	5
Limitation of the Study	6
Operational Definitions	6
Organization of the Study	7
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	8
Introduction	8
Theoretical Underpinning- Symbolic Interaction Theory	8
Conceptual Review	9
Financial Management	9
Employees' Personal Finances Management	10
The Concept Financial Literacy	11
Conceptualizing Employees' Retirement Planning	12
Conceptualizing Employees' Financial Well-being	15
Empirical Review	16
Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning	16
Financials Literacy and Financial Well-being	19
Chapter Summary	21

© University of Cape Coast

CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODS	23
Introduction	23
Research Design	23
Study Organisation	24
Target Population	25
Sample Procedure	26
Data Collection Instrument	26
Data Collection Procedure	28
Data Processing and Analysis	28
Descriptive Analysis of Financial Literacy	29
Assumption of Linear Regression	29
Operational Definition of Variables	30
Chapter Summary	31
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	32
Introduction	32
Background Information of Respondents	32
Financial Literacy level among Employees of Ghana Immigration	
Service	36
Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning and Preparation	42
Financial Literacy and Financial Well-being	44
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND	
RECOMMENDATIONS	48
Introduction	48
Summary	48
Key Findings	49
Conclusions	50
Recommendations	51
Suggestions for Further Studies	51
REFERENCES	52
APPENDIX (QUESTIONNAIRE)	67

© University of Cape Coast

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Data Analysis Procedures	30
2	Variables and Operational Definition	31
3	Background Information of Respondents	34
4	Minimum to Maximum Score, Number of Respondents and	
	Percentage	37
5	Financial Literacy Questions and the Total Response	40
6	Descriptive Statistics for Financial Literacy	41
7	Model Summary	42
8	ANOVA	43
9	Coefficient	44
10	Model Summary of Relationship and Amount of Variation Test	45
11	ANOVA (Linearity Test)	46
12	Coefficient	46

CHAPTER ONE INTRODUCTION

Background to the Study

The financial systems of the 21st Century have been growing with speed, sophistication and becoming more complex world over. Per this, the economic and social environment in which people take financial decisions has also changed drastically (Mitchell, 2011). This has increased individual employees' responsibility in managing their own finances and securing their financial freedom. Financial problems resulting from poor personal financial management is known to affect individual retirement planning, saving and investment decisions as well as the financial well-being. In America, Lusardi (2003) asserted that older employees are not at all confident about the efficacy of their efforts to save for retirement, and in fact one-third of adults in their 50s have failed to develop any kind of retirement saving plan at all.

Employees' retirement planning, preparation, savings-investment decisions and financial wellbeing are important factors determining the quality of life and has been investigated in several studies. Employees' financial wellbeing and retirement saving-investment decisions are a key component to financial health (Bergstresser, Chalmers & Tufano, 2009). Employees' with high levels of financial well-being have the financial freedom to make choices that allow them to enjoy life. Globally, people are being asked to take charge of their financial well-being because of the occasional changes that occur in pension plans. This trend requires people to make decisions on how much to save and where to invest during retirement (Lusardi, 2014). Changes in life require adjustments in identity, thinking, feeling and action (Goold, 2007).

In light of this, employees' personal finance management is an important issue today. It also is recognized to be an area of important life skills (Mullainathan, Noeth & Schoar, 2012). One of the reasons for personal financial problems is financial illiteracy. In a study conducted by Bhattacharya, Hackethal, Kaesler, Loos and Meyer (2012), it was reported that most employees lack the financial literacy needed to make important financial decisions for their own best interests. As stated by Kimball and Shumway (2010), poor financial behaviors and personal and family money management practices have consequential, detrimental and negative impacts on one's

retirement planning and preparation, financial well-being as well as life at home and work.

Different definitions of financial literacy are presented in the literature until now. Remund (2010) defined financial literacy as a person's ability to understand and use financial matters. Jacob, Hudson & Bush (2000) considered personal financial knowledge as concepts of personal financial management skills and information while Huston (2010) stated that financial literacy includes awareness and knowledge of financial instruments and their application in business and personal life. In synthesis, these definitions show that financial literacy includes the ability to balance a bank account, prepare budgets, save for the future and learn strategies to manage debt. A person is known as financially literate if he/she is able to manage his/her personal finance in life and in this dynamic society.

Financial literacy of employees will enhance their ability to handle day-to-day financial matters and will reduce the negative consequences of poor financial decisions that otherwise might take years to overcome. Increased financial literacy has a positive impact on employees' retirement planning, financial well-being and personal finance management (Stoughton, Wu & Zechner, 2011). Financial literacy among employees' education can enhance individual financial knowledge and skills (Klapper, Lusardi & Panos, 2013); Lusardi & Tufano, 2009).

It is worth knowing that, the milestone decisions people make throughout their lives ultimately affect their financial security and eventually the financial security of their country. It is for this reason that the Government of Ghana institutionalized the Annual Financial Literacy Week as a long term financial sector policy priority measure. The aim was to raise awareness on the range of financial products and services available to consumers to help them better understand and manage their finances, thereby improving financial behaviour of the citizenry (Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning [MOFEP], 2012). The launch of the Annual Financial Literacy Week was recommended by Ghana's Financial Sector Strategic Plan (Gyabaah, 2009).

With a population of over 27 million people, Ghana's adult financial literacy rate as at 2014 was 32 percent (Ghana Statistical Service, 2014). In Ghana, a study conducted by Atakora (2013) showed that most Ghanaians do

not have adequate financial knowledge and skills to make informed judgments and decisions on management of their finances as well as understanding the details of financial products and services. To buttress this, Klapper, Lusardi and Oudhensden (2015) found that only 33 percent of adults worldwide are financially literate. This implies that only one-in-three adults are financially literate.

When these poor levels of financial literacy are considered in the context of financial decision-making during retirement, then it is clear that only a small proportion of the population is likely to have the requisite level of financial knowledge and skill. Again, those who are woefully under-informed about basic financial concepts and thus, are not financially literate fail to plan for retirement with consequences for their financial well-being. Despite the apparent importance of financial literacy education, there has been little research that examines relationships between financial literacy and retirement planning and how it contributes to the financial well-being of employees in Ghana. Therefore, this study aims to examine the relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in Ghana Immigration Service.

Statement of the Problem

In recent times, concern for the levels of financial literacy in society as a whole has grown considerably and is expected to grow even more in the future (Fox, Bartholomae & Lee 2005). Employees face challenges and barriers that make it difficult for them to be financially prepared for the future. There are many barriers that prevent or hinder employees from actively saving for retirement and one of them is financial illiteracy.

Ghanaians have less confidence about preparing a retirement plan due to the financial illiteracy (Atakora, 2013). In Ghana, most people on an average earn less than the per capita income of the country. In addition, cost of living in Ghana is quite high (Ghana Living Standard Survey, 2013). However, some retirees in Ghana receive as low as GH¢200 a month (Social Security and National Investment Trust [SSNIT] Retirees Association, 2015). Little income amidst high cost of living makes financial decision prudent for employees.

Individual employees in Ghana Immigration Service are encouraged to start planning for their latter retirement life especially during their golden years and not only when they are nearing the retirement era. Therefore, retirement planning is an essential issue in the employee's life. The general conclusion of this limited literature is that financial literacy education can increase retirement saving-investment decisions of employees which will enhance their financial well-being and satisfaction. Therefore, the present study focuses on the level of financial literacy among employees in Ghana Immigration Service and subsequently analyses the effects of financial literacy on retirement planning within this group.

Purpose of the Study

The main purpose of the study was to examine the relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in Ghana Immigration Service.

Objectives of the Study

Specifically, the study was guided by the following objectives, to:

- 1. explore the financial literacy level among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service
- 2. examine the effects of financial literacy on retirement planning and preparation among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service
- 3. examine the effects of financial literacy on financial well-being of employees' in Ghana Immigration Service

Research Questions

- 1. What is the financial literacy level among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service?
- 2. What are the effects of financial literacy on retirement planning and preparation among employees in Ghana Immigration Service?
- 3. What are the effects of financial literacy on financial well-being of employees in Ghana Immigration Service?

Hypotheses

- H₁: There is no significant relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning among employees in Ghana Immigration Service
- H₂: There is no significant relationship between financial literacy on financial well-being of employees' in Ghana Immigration Service

Significance of the Study

The findings of this study will be important not only to employees of Ghana Immigration Service but also other sectors that will use the study findings to identify the critical areas of applying financial literacy in their personal financial management. The employees may formulate strategies for managing their earnings, expenditures and saving or investments and general financial wellbeing of young people while in employment.

The Ghana Immigration Service employers will also find the findings of this study critical in developing strategies of cultivating a culture of prudent financial management among their employees that would lead to financial freedom hence better motivation to deliver in their roles. It is also a useful source of information for employer associations as well as policy makers including the Government and the Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning in Ghana to modify their policies regarding retirement. Ghana government may also use the research findings to formulate policies and programs that are able to promote financial literacy that would lead to better financial management to encourage both public and private investments. Further the study will be useful for the SSNIT Pensioners Association to direct their training programs and activities for the retirees and extend such programs to employees as well. It will help them tailor their training programs since they will know where the retirees and those who are currently employed will fall short the most. The findings will also be important to researchers as it will add to the wide knowledge in personal financial management.

Delimitation

The study is delimited to employees in Ghana Immigration Service. This study was delimited to the conceptualization of the effects of financial

© University of Cape Coast

literacy on retirement planning, personal financial management and financial well-being of employees. The study was also delimited to questionnaires.

Limitations of the Study

This study had several limitations. One limitation is lack of generalizability because the employees in this study were predominantly from Ghana Immigration Service. The representativeness for the whole employees in Ghana is limited. This study has a limitation in the accuracy of responses on the amount of monthly savings. Respondents may not report the accurate number because they do not possess the correct knowledge or may not want to report it. However, it is worth noting that this limitation did not in any way affect the validity and the reliability of the study

Operational Definitions

Financial Literacy: Financial literacy refers to knowing the facts and

vocabulary necessary to manage one's personal

finances successfully

Financial Knowledge: Financial knowledge includes knowledge about

general personal finances, retirement plans,

employee benefits, credit and money

management, and consumer rights.

Financial Behavior: Financial behavior refers to the process people

use in managing their financial resources to achieve financial success in the areas of retirement plans, employee benefits, credit and

money management, and consumer rights.

Financial Well-being: Financial well-being is the outcome of the

financial management process. It can be measured by subjective perception of the

financial situation as well as quantifiable

objective indicators.

© University of Cape Coast

Organisation of the Study

The study is organised into five (5) chapters. Chapter one is the introduction and it covers the background of the study, statement of problem, purpose of the study, research objectives, research questions, significance of the study, delimitation, limitation and organization of the study. Chapter two entails the literature review. This involves the theoretical foundation and the empirical review of the study as well as gaps identified in literature regarding the research objectives. Chapter three describes the methodology deployed for the research. Chapter four deals with results and discussion of the study. Chapter five is on summary, conclusions and recommendations.

CHAPTER TWO LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

The main purpose of the study was to examine the relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in Ghana Immigration Service. This chapter reviews extensive literature on the issues of investigation. The literature review is conceptualized in three aspects: the theoretical review, conceptual review and empirical review based on the research objectives.

Theoretical Underpinning

Symbolic Interaction Theory

Symbolic interaction theory is a social science theory and was applied in this study. This theory claims that facts are based on and directed by symbols (Aksan, Kisac, Aydin & Demirbuken, 2009). According to this theory, people live both in the natural and the symbolic environment and focuses attention on the way that people interact through symbols such as words, gestures, rules and roles. There are three core principles in symbolic interaction perspective of Blumer, the founder of symbolic interaction theory, which are meaning, language and thinking. There are five concepts in symbolic interaction theory namely; role, self, interaction, culture and norm (Meltzer, Petras & Reynolds, 1975). The working individuals are the target samples in this study. The symbolic interaction theory, helped in finding the perspective of working individuals toward the proximity of retirement planning. As the working individuals are divided into three groups according to their age, they might have different thinking and perspective toward the retirement planning among them. As a result, the attitude of individuals will influence their behaviour on making decision in retirement planning. Moreover, the way of their thinking might influence the group among them due to the social interaction process. The working individuals who are more knowledgeable about the retirement planning tend to influence other individuals from his or her point of view. When the interaction among the individuals is successful, the retirement planning might become a culture of society.

Conceptual Review

This section looked at the following issues: financial management, financial literacy, employees' retirement planning and financial well-being.

Financial Management

Finance is a very critical resource to individuals and every organization. Hence, its proper management has engrossed much attention in the many literatures. In firms, fund is needed to acquire assets, embark long term investments and for financing purposes to meet the objective of maximizing shareholder wealth. As for individuals, people need money to meet their day to day household obligations. Evidence available demonstrates that financial management behaviors of employees do not only foster the cohesion and mutuality within them but also influence their savings and investment behaviors (Krah et al., 2014).

Financial management is also an essential practice that assists people in order to save for a better tomorrow and serve as emergency fund during rainy days. But before we start managing our financial sources effectively, people must have sufficient knowledge and basic financial background. As for employees, financial management practices become more important since they have to allocate their income into many obligations. Employees' in a study Hogarth and Hilgert (2002) reported on employees' eighteen financial management behaviors, ranging from very basic money management skills (tracking expenses, paying bills on time) to more sophisticated ones (diversifying investments). This study shows a fairly large percentage of individuals reported what are considered "good" cash-flow management practices: 89% of households had a checking account, 88% paid all their bills on time, and 75% reconciled their checkbook every month. As to saving practices, the data shows that while 80% and 63% had a savings account and an emergency fund, respectively, only 39% were saving for long-term goals, such as for education, a car, or a home. On the other hand, highly educated individuals or higher financial knowledge does not necessarily translate into better financial management unless the values of living within one's means are cultivated along financial knowledge (Ali, 2013).

Employees' Personal Finances Management

Personal finance refers to all financial decisions and activities that a person could make and undertake. This could include budgeting household incomes and expenditures, savings, investments, mortgages, insurance and all other decisions that require money. The most important factor of personal finance management is financial planning, which should involve analyzing the financial position and setting of short-term and long-term goals. Financial success is the achievement of financial aspirations that are desired, planned, or attempted" (Garman & Forgue, 2000).

Financial management requires systematic and disciplined thought and action. Financial management requires planning, implementing, and evaluating behavior involved in the allocation of families' current flow of income and their stock of wealth toward the end of meeting the family's financial goals (Godwin & Koonce, 1992). Investigators have used very different items to measure financial management. Measures often include who makes financial decisions, attitudes about credit, whether the family has financial problems, and satisfaction with financial status, along with the behavioral measures of planning, budgeting, and record-keeping (Godwin, 1994). Goldsmith (1996) defined financial management as "the science or practice of managing money or other assets." Financial management is a transformation process involving the identification of financial goals, collection of information, analysis of resources, decisions about whether to spend, invest, or save, and evaluation of resources.

According to Kempson (2009), money management skills are influenced by three important factors; financial control, making ends meet and approaches to financial management. Financial control relates to budgeting, keeping records and knowledge of daily living costs and the ability to meet the financial obligations as they fall due. Making ends meet refers to a parson's ability to predict times when finances may be low, and to remedy that situation. This also includes assessing the ability to maintain spending and keep up with commitments. Approaches to financial management relates to impulsiveness during spending, using credit instead of cash and general spending patterns that result in using more money than is available. Budgeting

and living within means involves keeping track of finances and reducing unnecessary spending while saving and planning means provision for an emergency through savings and insurance held; attitudes to financial planning; saving and planning for retirement; and saving and planning for expected expenses. In Ghana, as well as other countries, this might be the use of a pension/retirement fund, child education fund, etc.

It is important to have good skills of personal finance management in order to make correct day-to-day decisions such as what to buy and what not to buy. This would help to save lots of money in the long run, as unnecessary products would be bought not so frequently. Ability to make these decisions more responsibly would improve the wellbeing of the households. But for all this, there is a need for financial literacy, which would help understand various financial services and make financial decisions. Looking into all the approaches towards personal finance might seem complicated for an individual without financial education, as such people usually do not understand ways of managing (planning, saving, investing and borrowing) money as may be necessary from time to time (Greenspan, 2006).

The Concept Financial Literacy

The terms financial literacy, financial knowledge and financial education often are used interchangeably in the literature and popular media. Few scholars have attempted to define or differentiate these terms. Financial literacy can be defined as the ways by which people manage their money in terms of insuring, investing, saving and budgeting (Mahdzan & Tabiani, 2013). Financial literacy is also defined as the ability to use knowledge and skills to manage financial resources effectively for a life time of financial well-being (Suwanaphan, 2013). It also refers to a skill that can help people to make financial decisions effectively.

Therefore, individuals who are financially literate are expected to possess basic understanding of the financial concepts such as interest rate, inflation rate, compound interest, and risk (Sabri & Juen, 2014). Several researchers (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2007; Lusardi et al., 2010; van Rooij et al., 2011a) have studied the level of financial literacy among different segments of the population and they all came to the same conclusion: the level of financial

literacy within each segment is insufficient to make informed financial decisions in relation to mortgages, credit cards, insurances and investments etc. Financial literacy was found to play an important role in explaining attitudes toward saving.

In addition, recognizing that individuals possess low financial literacy and do not plan for retirement brings inevitably raises the issue of mistakes in financial plans and decisions (Delafrooz & Paim, 2011a). Moreover, it has been deduced that financial literacy increases the likelihood of planning for retirement and that people who plan for retirement have higher levels of wealth compared to people who do not plan (Khan & Abdullah, 2010). Employees need financial knowledge and skills to make informed financial decisions. A survey by American Express Financial Advisors reported that 85% of all employees wanted to get financial information where they work. More employers are providing workplace financial education as employees shoulder a greater responsibility for their financial futures.

Conceptualizing Employees' Retirement Planning

Retirement planning can be conceived as: "a broad set of cognitions and behaviours toward the event of withdrawal from work" (Koloski et al., 2001). Although the definition is useful it does not specify what is meant by cognition and behaviour. Traditional retirement planning models usually focus on the economic aspects of retirement planning: the social insurance program within a country, pension plans of the individual and personal savings of the individual (Allen et al., 1997). Due to the increase of defined contribution plans, the financial aspect of retirement planning continues to be the dominant factor (Allen et al., 1997). Due to this focus the definition of retirement planning shifts towards the definition of investment planning (Dennis, 2002).

Even though the foundation of retirement planning is finance, Dennis (2002) indicates that retirement planning includes more than just investment planning. Important topics are for instance: career planning, relationships, health, and life after retirement etc. This is supported by Taylor-Carter et al. (1997) who indicate that besides financial planning, leisure planning is also an important aspect of retirement planning. Leisure planning refers to retirement goals after retirement. According to Taylor-Carter et al. (1997) retirement

planning may take place formally or informally. The term informal is used to amplify the unconstrained nature of this type of planning, in which individuals gather retirement information in an unstructured way, as opposed to formal planning in which participants choose to attend structured retirement seminars in order to plan for retirement.

Another view on retirement planning is given by Beehr (1986) who indicates that retirement planning is the start of the retirement process. This planning process begins years before the actual point of retirement and is often more complex than expected (Phua & McNally, 2008). Because the objective of the present study is to analyse the effect of financial literacy on retirement planning it seems sensible to focus on the financial aspect of retirement planning. Furthermore the formal process of retirement planning is left out of scope because it seems unlikely to find students attending retirement seminars. This means that within the present study, retirement planning is limited to informal financial planning to ensure adequate finances in retirement.

Boeri, Börsch-Supan and Tabellini (2002) indicate that there exists a general awareness among European citizens of the unsustainability of the pension system and the need to modify it. This seems to counter the conclusion of multiple other researchers who indicate that pension knowledge is lacking among different subgroups of the population (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2007b; de Gier et al, 2007). Luchak and Gunderson (2000) both study worker knowledge of pension plans and conclude that the overall understanding of pension provisions is low. When employees are allowed to make their own asset allocation decisions in relation to retirement planning most employees fail to do a good job (Benartzi & Thaler, 1999). Many pension participants choose the path of the least resistance and are driven by the menu of investment funds presented to them (Choi, 2001). Waggle and Englis (2000) concluded that large parts of Individual Retirement Accounts (IRS) are concentrated in one asset category and that a surprisingly large fraction is held in cash. It is particularly noteworthy to see that cash outweighs bond investments, whereas traditional finance theory recommends for long-term retirement accounts to invest mainly in long-term bonds and equity (Waggle & Englis, 2000).

In the U.S. less than one in three women (30.9%) has ever tried to make a retirement saving calculation. Which means that close to 70% did not take an effort to find out how much they should save to maintain their current living standard. Furthermore 58.5% of women who made a calculation developed a plan but only a third was able to actually commit to the plan (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2008). In addition, van Rooij et al. (2011a) indicated that thinking about retirement is more common in the US in comparison to the Netherlands. In the UK the Financial Service Authority (FSA, 2006) wanted to capture peoples' attitudes in relation to planning ahead, including retirement planning. They formulated four statements to analyse peoples' attitudes. According to the FSA (2006) it's encouraging to see that 75% of the respondents indicated that they save some money for a rainy day. On the other hand 44% indicated that they find it more satisfying to spend money today than to save it for the long term and 42% would rather have a good living standard today than plan for retirement.

In order to find out how people allocate their resources among different asset classes within a retirement account Benartzi and Thaler (1999) conducted a series of experiments providing different sets of information. They found that respondents allocate 63% of their resources to equity when provided with one year stock returns. When respondents received 30 year stock returns they raised their investments in equity to 81%. In their actual retirement account respondents invested 66% in stocks because they only received monthly and annual performance figures (Benartzi and Thaler, 1999). This shows that most respondents only read the information provided by vendors and do not make the effort to collect additional information.

When people have to decide how to allocate their resources most people do not spend much time analysing the different possibilities. Benartzi and Thaler (1999) indicate that over half (58%) of the respondents in their experiment spent less than an hour to decide how to allocate their resources. Furthermore most people will never change their original allocation choice (Samuelson & Zeckhauser, 2008). This is disturbing as traditional finance theory advises to start with an aggressive investment portfolio when young (containing a relatively large fraction of equity) and reduce the amount of risk in a later phase by transferring resources from equity to bonds (Benartzi &

Thaler, 2001). Because employees find retirement planning decisions difficult and are afraid that they are not able to control their own pension most of the employees in the Netherland prefer the mandatory aspect of pension savings and prefer the defined benefit system (van Rooij et al., 2007).

Conceptualizing Employees' Financial Well-being

The term "financial wellbeing" had been developed within the past decade. Prior to the mid-1990s, numerous researchers attempted to explain, predict, or define related constructs such as financial well-being, financial satisfaction, and economic well-being. These terms tend to be used interchangeably. Economic well-being and financial well-being can be proxies of financial wellness. Goldsmith (2006) referred to economic well-being as the degree to which individuals or families have economic adequacy or security. Porter (2000) defined economic well-being as a sense of one's financial situation that is based on objective attributes and perceived attributes that are judged against standards of comparison to form evaluated attributes of that financial situation. Williams (2003) suggested that economic well-being is a function of money income, real or full income, agreement about distribution, psychic income or perceived adequacy of income.

Hayhoe (2000) observed that financial well-being can be looked at from a simple individual's perception of satisfaction with one's material or financial situation to a complicated perception of both the material and nonmaterial aspects of an individual's financial situation. Financial well-being is a function of individual characteristics, financial management, and financial knowledge and skills. McGregor and Goldsmith (2008) suggested that financial well-being is a function of money income, transfers and in-kind income, financial assets, human assets, community resources, durable goods and services, time, deferred consumption, attitude toward money, ability to manage, control over financial affairs and resources, values, insurance-risk management, job security and employee benefits, ability to adjust to life transition, and lifestyle decisions. Joo (2008) considers personal financial wellbeing as a comprehensive concept comprising financial satisfaction, objective status of financial situation, financial perception, and behavior that cannot be assessed through one measure.

The complicated perception comprise of happiness of income and savings, awareness of opportunities, ability to make ends meet, sense of material security, and sense of fairness of the reward distribution system. Numerous researchers have sought to develop conceptual model for the determinants of financial well-being using diverse research methods (Hayhoe, 2000; Joo, 2008; Williams, 2003). However, determinants for personal financial wellbeing is complicated in nature, which comprises objective and subjective statuses of financial situation, behavioral assessment of personal finance, and satisfaction with personal financial situation that cannot be assessed through a single measure (Joo, 2008). Joo (2008) also suggested a higher level of financial well-being correlated with higher performance ratings, less absenteeism, and less work time loss. In summary, financial wellbeing can be conceptualized as a level of financial health. It includes satisfaction with material and non-material aspects of one's financial situation, perception (or subjective assessment) of financial stability including adequacy of financial resources, and the objective amount of material and non-material financial resources that each individual possesses.

Empirical Review

Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning

Not all individuals have the financial sophistication and access to information to be able to make optimal decisions about retirement savings, therefore actual households saving may vary from the optimal savings plan. In light of this, Campbell (2006) concludes that poorer and less educated households are more likely to make serious investment mistakes. Moreover less literate households are more likely to keep under-diversified investments (Calvet et al., 2009) and turn away from the stock market completely (Van Rooij et al., 2011b; Christellis et al., 2010). Financial literacy is an important factor in relation to retirement planning, lack of financial literacy leads to a lack of retirement planning (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2009).

Even after controlling for many socio demographic factors, financial literacy influences retirement planning and, in turn, increases future wealth (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2007). Van Rooij et al. (2011c) analyse the relation between financial literacy, retirement planning and household wealth and

argue that financial literacy has a positive effect on wealth accumulation. According to van Rooij et al. (2011c) financial literacy might increase wealth accumulation through two channels. First, financial literacy increases the likelihood of investing in stocks which enables people to take advantage of increases in stock prices. Second, financial literacy has a positive effect on retirement planning because it reduces barriers to: a) acquire information, b) make calculations and c) develop a plan. According to Clark and d'Ambrosio (2002) high quality financial education can be helpful in changing the pension saving process and is an effective mechanism to improve personal pension saving goals.

Financial education improves understanding of financial markets and the risk return properties of investment and therefore the understanding of pension saving goals. Lusardi and Mitchell (2007c) found that people showing high levels of financial literacy when young are more likely to plan for retirement. In 2005 the UK Financial Services Authority (FSA) analysed if people collected any information before purchasing complex financial products like insurances, mortgages and investment products. Just over half of the sample (54%) indicated that they collected information themselves or used an advisor. The main source of information was the regular product information (42%), only 7% actively searched for the best buy. A recent survey in the Netherlands in relation to pension awareness indicated that on average 30% of the Dutch labour force does not use any source (e.g. magazines, newspapers, unions, pension funds etc.) to gain additional information concerning retirement planning (TNS NIPO, 2011). Among the respondents with the lowest pension awareness this figure rises to 49%, as opposed to 9% for the most aware respondents (TNS NIPO, 2011).

Research by de Gier et al. (2007) as cited in Van Dijk (2010) indicates that financial illiteracy is widespread and most people are not able to design their own pension plan. This lack of financial knowledge is due to lack of information, costly information or the inability of people to process the information. Research in the United States indicates that people are sadly under-informed about basic financial concepts, with serious implications for saving, retirement planning, mortgages and other financial decisions (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2007b). Similar results are found outside the U.S., the FSA

indicated that the English population is not planning for future expenditures and retirement plans were not sufficient (FSA, 2006). Despite the fact that people do not plan for their retirement, research among the Dutch population shows that most people do feel that retirement planning is their own responsibility.

In 2009, on average, 39% of the Dutch labour force indicated that it was their own responsibility to take care of their pension, this percentage rose to 54% in 2010 (TNS NIPO, 2011). Among the respondents with the highest levels of pension awareness this percentage was even 90%. In the UK the FSA (2006) analysed if people with investment products monitored the value development of their holdings. About a quarter (24%) of the sample group indicated that they analysed the value development once a month or more, on the other hand 22% indicated that they never monitored the performance of their investments. Furthermore 9% indicated to monitor their investment less than once a year (FSA, 2006). From 2008 onwards pension funds in the Netherlands are obliged to inform their participants on an annual basis about the value development of their retirement investments through an annual retirement overview (TNS NIPO, 2011).

According to recent research (TNS NIPO, 2011) less pension aware individuals spend less time studying their annual retirement overview. On average 33% of the Dutch labour force actually questions oneself if the amount presented in their annual retirement overview will be sufficient after retirement, which means 67% does not. Among the respondents with the lowest rank for pension awareness less than one fifth actually asks oneself if their current pension arrangement will be adequate to meet future expenditures and 16% does not read the annual overview at all (TNS NIPO, 2011). In 2007 and 2009 Lusardi and Mitchell use the Rand American Life Panel (ALP) dataset to analyse the relation between financial literacy and retirement planning in the US.

In 2007 the average age of their sample is almost 53 and over 40% earn \$75,000 or more. Furthermore, the sample if relatively well educated as over 52% holds a bachelor degree or higher. In their 2009 data sample, the average age is 45 and only 30% earns \$75,000 or more. 46% of the sample hold a bachelor degree or higher. In both cases financial literacy has a positive

and significant impact on retirement planning after controlling for multiple demographic factors such as age, income and education. In 2011, van Rooij et al. analysed the relation between financial literacy and retirement in the Netherlands using data from the DNB Household Survey. The average age of the dataset is about 50. 13% hold a university degree and 26% have completed higher vocational training. Furthermore, 55% are men and 31% are married or living together. The results show that, again after controlling for multiple demographic factors, financial literacy has a positive and significant effect on retirement planning.

Financial Literacy and Financial Well-being

Financial well-being is a multi-part concept. According to Van Praag et al. (2003), well-being is provided by individual satisfaction in six areas: business, finance, home, leisure, health and environmental. McGregor and Goldsmith (2008) recognize welfare as including economic, physical, social, emotional, environmental aspects, political and spiritual factors. As mentioned in both references, material well-being is one of the aspects of welfare and convenience. Fergusson et al. (2001) describe financial wellbeing as financial income level and asset. Williams (2003) recognizes financial wellbeing as a function of material and spiritual aspects of one's financial status, and Hayhoe et al. (2000) defined the financial wellbeing as a feeling of satisfaction a person has about his financial status. According to Porter (2000) the financial well-being is one's attitude toward his/her financial statuses, based on objective aspects, and judge them with regard to the standards. According to Joo (2008) the concept of wellbeing or in other words people's perception of well-being varies with change in the level of their life.

In the past, wellbeing has had the meaning of overall happiness or satisfaction with their financial status or assets. But at the present the wellbeing concept has changed to material and non-material aspects of a person's perception from their financial status to improving their living standards. This includes perceptions such as: ability to meet the needs, feeling safe, feeling comfortable and satisfied with the income and the award distribution system. Goldsmith (2000) knows financial wellbeing as financial adequacy and safety of individual or family that protects the person against

economic risks such as unemployment, illness, bankruptcy, poverty and destitution in retirement. As these definitions indicate, attitude towards financial wellbeing is different among researchers and in different studies, different methods have been used to measure economic wellbeing and welfare. One of these methods is using an objective or position scale. The scale uses quantitative indicators visible from a financial status to determine the level of financial wellbeing. For example, consumption of goods, net worth, saving, socioeconomic status, income, number of children and home ownership are accounted for in the physical aspects of financial well-being (Van Praag et al., 2003).

Another method is to use subjective measures of financial wellbeing measurement. Subjective wellbeing refers to internal and subjective assessment of the amount of a person's financial resources which may be sufficient or insufficient and satisfactory or unsatisfactory. Certain concepts and various tools are used to investigate the subjective wellbeing. Ardelt (1997) knows life satisfaction, happiness, and not feeling discomfort in life as subjective wellbeing. Brod et al. (1999) described the quality of life as overall subjective assessment of a person from his living in general and specific areas such as social life, finances, job or living situation. George (1993) has used three single-item scales including satisfaction with income, satisfaction with financial status and individual's standard of living consent to measure subjective well-being. Satisfaction with financial position represents an assessment of the overall financial status. Satisfaction with income refers to assessing the amount of income that a person receives or earns regularly. Satisfaction with standards of living is due to an assessment of the quantity and quality of goods and services available or on the market. In objective and subjective measures of financial well-being, we can say that the objective method will provide more tangible evidence in comparison to the subjective one and it is easier to understand by respondents. In contrast, considering subjective measures cause a more complete assessment of financial wellbeing. Scales assessing subjective perceptions can provide a more complete understanding of consumer financial behavior. A researcher can identify the views, feelings, and perceptions about ones' financial status, using variables that an individual realizes and provides him with better symptoms and signs of wellbeing. In this study, both measures for financial wellbeing were used so that the views, feelings and perceptions about one's financial status in addition to considering the quantitative criteria visible from a financial position can be measured.

Lusardi and Mitchell's (2007a) findings show that those who are more knowledgeable are much more likely to make better investment and saving plans and to answer economic literacy queries correctly. According to Bernheim, Garrett and Maki (2001) employees who learned about financial management courses at school make better savings plans and investment decisions. De Bassa Scheresberg (2013) investigated the impact of financial literacy on the behaviour of young adults in the U.S. The results showed that most young adults have no awareness of basic financial instruments. Studies conducted by Gale, Harris and Levine (2012) showed that workplace financial education seminars have a positive influence on household savings but the level of the impact differs broadly. While the study reported that financial education programs in schools have an unclear impact on household savings and, according to econometric studies, no significant outcomes were found. Neill et al (2005) have conducted a study aimed at examining the relationship between financial activities, financial wellbeing, and health among 3,121 customers of a financial consulting organization. Their results showed that people with higher income and financial well-being will experience less stress, are more motivated in financial activities, have better family relationships and are physically and mentally healthier.

Chapter Summary

The literature review is conceptualized the theoretical review, conceptual review and empirical review based on the research objectives. The theory applied in this study is the Symbol interaction theory which is a social science theory that claims that facts are based on and directed by symbols (Aksan et al., 2009). According to Meltzer et al. (1975), symbolic interaction theory has five concepts namely; role, self, interaction, culture and norm. The symbolic interaction theory, helped in finding the perspective of working individuals toward the proximity of retirement planning. The conceptual review looked at the issues of financial management which covers employee's personal

© University of Cape Coast

financial management, financial literacy, employees' retirement planning and financial well-being. The empirical review discussed the findings of researchers on financials literacy and financial well-being and financial literacy and retirement planning.

CHAPTER THREE RESEARCH METHODS

Introduction

This study is about financial literacy and financial well-being of retirees in Cape Coast Metropolis. The chapter entails a thorough and organised process that the study adopted to realize the research objectives. The discussions in the chapter includes research philosophy, research design, study area, target population, sampling technique and procedure, data collection instruments, data collection procedures, data processing analysis and chapter summary.

Research Design

A paradigm according to Rossman and Rallis, (2003) is defined as the worldview or shared understanding of reality. To them, it is thought of as the perspective that the researcher brings to the research. Therefore, the approach used in any research is determined by the researcher's philosophical view of the social world. Rossman and Rallis (2003), categorized paradigms into four types namely positivism, interpretivism, critical realism and critical humanism. This study adopts the positivist paradigm because it is objective, scientific, precise and it uses quantitative data. The paradigm chosen informed the selection of the appropriate research design for the study which is quantitative research design.

Research design according to Creswell, Plano, Gutmann and Hanson, (2003) is important because it provides road map for how to meticulously conduct studies to best meet the objectives of the study. It is described as the master plan that specifies the methods and procedures for collecting and analyzing the needed information for a study. The research design employed in a study has a great bearing on the reliability of the results arrived at and as such constitutes the firm foundation of the entire edifice of the research work (Kothari, 2004).

There are three alternative research designs according to Creswell (2014). These are quantitative, qualitative and mixed methods. For the purpose of this study, quantitative research design is adopted. Quantitative research is

defined by Aliaga and Gunderson (2000) as explaining phenomena by collecting numerical data that are analysed using mathematically based methods, in particular statistics. That is to indicate that research projects that collect data or information in the form of numbers is quantitative research (Healey, 2010).

Quantitative research design includes experimental design, and non-experimental design. An example of the non-experimental design is survey (Creswell, 2014), and this study adopts survey research. Survey research provides a quantitative or numeric description of trends, attitudes or opinions of a population by studying a sample of that population. It uses questionnaires or structured interviews for data collection with the intent of generalizing from a sample to a population (Fowler, 2008). The survey strategy is popular and normally used in business and management research and is most often used to answer who, what, where, how much and how many questions.

Aside its appropriateness for the study, the survey research has been used in financial literacy studies by ANZ Survey, (2015); Gowri, (2014); Mandell and Klein, (2009); Chen and Volpe, (2002) in prior studies. Again, surveys are popular as they allow the collection of a large amount of data from a sizeable population in a highly economical way, which is often obtained by using a questionnaire administered to a sample. In addition, the survey strategy is perceived as authoritative by people in general and is both comparatively easy to explain and to understand (Saunders et al, 2009).

Study Organisation

The Ghana Immigration Service started as the Immigration and Passport Unit of the Gold Coast Colonial Police Force under the command of Mr. Nevile C. Hill. On attainment of independence in 1957, the rapid expansion of the economy coupled with Ghana's role as a trailblazer in the African liberation struggle led to the country being swamped with foreign businessmen, tourists and African aliens. To control this influx, a Cabinet decision in 1960 transferred the Immigration Unit to the Ministry of the Interior as a separate department, while the Ministry of Foreign Affairs took over the issuing of passports. These measures were taken to enhance service

delivery. Three (3) years later, the aliens Act 1963, Act 160 was enacted to give legal backing to immigration operations.

In November 1989, by PNDC Law 226, the Immigration Department was converted into a Paramilitary Service. It was established under PNDC Law 226 in 1989, the Ghana Immigration Service remains the sole institution with the statutory mandate to regulate and monitor the entry, residence, employment and the exit of foreigners in the country. The passage of Immigration Act 2000, Act 573 expanded the functions and roles of the Service. Prominent among these are the Indefinite Residence and Right of Abode facilities.

The vision of Ghana Immigration Service is to build an Immigration Service that facilitates travel, promotes the development needs of Ghana, which is recognized internationally for its professionalism and high standards of service and control. Its mission is to build a stronger and better Ghana by operating fair but firm immigration controls that regulate and facilitate the movement of people through Ghana's borders; and efficient, effective residence and work permit systems that meet the social and economic needs of the country.

The Ghana Immigration Service is the government agency responsible for the enforcement of all statutory and regulatory enactment relating to immigration. Apart from regulating and monitoring the movements and activities of foreigners in the country, the Service also serves as a frontline agency, which ensures that the vision of Ghana becoming the gateway to Africa is achieved.

Target Population

Mouton (1996) defined population as 'a collection of objects, events and individuals having some characteristics that the researcher is interested in studying' (p. 45). The target population is the population that the researcher has in view to study a phenomenon about. In this study the target population includes all staff of the following department/unit. Command Posts and Operations, Legal, Research and Monitoring Finance, Administration, Human Resource, Training, Procurement, Transport, Public Affairs and Protocol,

Estate and General Services, Sports, Welfare and Stores at the Ghana Immigration Service. The estimated size of the population was 4,186.

Sampling Procedure

This study used stratified random sampling technique to select the respondents. According to Groebner, Shannon, Fry and Smith (2000) stratified random sampling is a statistical sampling method in which the population is divided into homogeneous subgroups called strata so that each population item belongs to only one stratum. This was done based on gender in this study. Stratification ensures that the sample is well spread out among the relevant subgroups. It also ensures that the sample will accurately reflect the population on the basis of the criteria used for the stratification (Zikmund, Babin, Carr & Griffin, 2010).

Stratified sampling technique is an example of probability sampling technique. According to Saunders, Lewis & Thornhill (2009), probability sampling is most commonly associated with survey-based research strategies where you need to make inferences from your sample about a population to answer your research questions to meet the objectives. This confirms the appropriateness of the probability sampling for the study since it is survey based.

In deciding on the sample size, it should be noted that, the larger the sample size the lower the likely error in generalising to the population (Saunders et al. 2009). The required minimum sample size for the study was 358 based on the target population using the Saunders et al., (2009) sample determination table. To address the issue of non-response, the sample was increased to 400. From the required sample size of 400, the sample composition selected consisted of 213 males and 187 females using simple random sampling from both categories.

Data Collection Instrument

The data for this study was primary data which was collected through a self-administered questionnaire. The questionnaire thoroughly covered all the objectives of the research as far as the problem of the study was concerned. The questionnaire was developed after reviewing literature on the problem for

this study. The questionnaire was developed based on existing measures of financial literacy (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2006; OECD INFE, 2011), financial well-being (Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 2015), financial behaviour (OECD INFE, 2011).

Modifications were made to take into consideration, the difference in settings. For instance, questions on the use of automated teller machine (ATM) and the section on retirement planning were peculiar to the study. The format for the questionnaire was determined with the respondents in mind. The questions were clear, concise and straight forward, to avoid a lot of thinking by the respondents who were old and did not want to be bored with complex questions. There were discussions with experts who gave their inputs and advised on how to appropriately format the questionnaire.

The questionnaire had five sections from A to E and it covered all the objectives of the research in detail. Section A covered the demographic characteristics of the respondents, such as gender, marital status, educational level and work position. The second, B section covered questions on financial behaviour. These were self-assessing questions to determine how the employees managed their finances. Whether an employees was financially literate or not reflected in this section.

Section C had questions on financial literacy and if an employee was financially literate or not depended on the number of questions that he/she answered correctly. Questions on preparation towards retirement was in section D and the questions focused on the sort of investment that the employee had which was meant to be accessed after retirement. The last section, E had questions that measured the financial well-being of the employees of the Service. Sections B, D and E were on a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 was not at all true of me and 5 meant very true of me.

Furthermore, validity and reliability are key factors which were considered in adopting the data collection instrument. This is an important concept to consider in every research (Oteng-Abayie 2011). In order to ensure validity and reliability of this study regarding the data collection instrument used, experts in financial management and financial literacy were contacted and they thoroughly vetted the questions. Reliability test conducted using SPSS gave a Cronbach's Alpha coefficient of 0.93 (Appendix 2). A coefficient

of 0.70 and above is acceptable as adequate to accept the research instrument as reliable (Lloyd, Streiner & Shannon, 1998; Van Saane, Sluiter, Verbeek & Frings-Dresen, 2003).

Using a questionnaire for data collection is very convenient, well-structured and formal. But when distributed at a time where the participants are engrossed in something else could lead to possible errors. Therefore the timing for administering the questionnaire was checked to ensure that the employees were not engaged in other activities at the time. After the questionnaire was prepared and vetting thoroughly done by experts, it was pretested. The concern raised by some of the employees was to space out the items on the questionnaire and this was done accordingly. Therefore, the final instrument was in the exact way that the respondents wanted.

Data Collection Procedures

In order to collect reliable data respondents were briefed on the purpose of the study. Respondents were assured of confidentiality of their responses and were expected to be sincere, factual and honest in answering the questions. Data collection took approximately two months. Permission of respondents was sought at all times before the questionnaires were handed to them. A total of 400 questionnaires out of the 421 administered were received, which gives 95.0% response rate. Since the no-response rate was 5.0% this will not affect the results of the study. A problem encountered was that the respondents were sometimes reluctant to answer the questionnaires but in all they were very supportive.

Data Processing and Analysis

For ease of entering the data using SPSS version 21, the questionnaire was coded. Key words in each question of the questionnaire were given a unique name and numbers assigned to them as codes. Codes were also assigned to the response categories in the scale before data input. The quality of data input determines the quality of information output. Accurate data entry was achieved through effective coding, efficient data captured and its entry and assuring quality through validation. In order to minimize errors in data

entry and data processing the data entered was checked by three different competent SPSS experts to ensure that there were no errors.

Descriptive Analysis of Financial Literacy

Descriptive statistics and index pool would be used for objective one which seeks to assess the financial literacy level of retirees in the Cape Coast Metropolis. According to Healey (2010), the central purpose of descriptive statistics is to summarize or reduce data. Thus, descriptive statistics simply describes what the data shows based on the sample (Adam, 2015). This would be done using the mean which is the measure of central tendency and its appropriate measure of dispersion which is the standard deviation. An important characteristic of the mean is that it reflects every score in the distribution, and it gives one figure on the average which would be used to describe the level of financial literacy amongst the retirees. Knowing this average figure could aid in decision making by policy makers. The scale of measurement used for this objective which is continuous also permits the use of the mean. All variables used to measure the level of financial literacy would be pulled together to form a composite index in other to facilitate this.

Assumptions of linear regression

The assumptions of linear regression include the following:

- A linear relationship between the independent and dependent variable
- The sample of subjects should be randomly sampled from the population of interest
- The scale of measurement for the dependent variable should be interval
 or ratio whereas the independent variable can be measured on an
 ordinal or nominal scale
- There data should be normally distributed
- Larger samples are needed for linear regression, typically greater or equal to 30 cases
- There should be no multicollinearity
- There should be homogeneity of variance

The models specified for the two objectives are as follows:

Objective 2: Financial Literacy, Retirement Planning and Preparation Objective 3: Financial literacy and Financial well-being

$$Fw = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Fl + \beta_2 Nchild + \beta_3 Exy + \beta_4 Rp + e \qquad (1)$$

Where:

Fw = dependent variable, financial well-being

 β o = Intercept or the slope

Fl = independent variable, financial literacy

Nchild = independent variable, number of dependents

Exy = independent variable, extra income,

Rp = independent variable, retirement planning

 β_1 to β_4 = Coefficient of the independent variables

e = Error term

Table 1: Data Analysis Procedures

Research Objective	Research question	Method	
Assess the financial	What is the financial	Descriptive statistics	
literacy level among	literacy level among		
retirees in Cape Coast	retirees in Cape Coast		
Metropolis	Metropolis?		
Analyse the effect of	What is the effect of	Regression analysis	
financial literacy on	financial literacy on		
financial well-being of	financial well-being of		
retirees in Cape Coast	retirees in the Cape		
Metropolis	Coast Metropolis?		

Source: Author's construct

Operational Definition of Variables

This section entails the operational definitions used for variables in this study. There variables comprise financial literacy, financial well-being, retirement planning, marital status, educational level, number of dependents and extra income. Table 2 depicts the operation definition of the variables.

Table 2: Variables and Operational Definition

Variable	Nature	Operationalisation
Financial literacy	Independent variable	A combination of awareness,
i manerar meracy	macpenaent variable	knowledge, skill, attitude and
		behaviour necessary to make
		sound financial decisions and
		ultimately achieve individual
		financial well-being
		municum wen denig
Financial well-being	Dependent variable	A state of being wherein a
S	1	person can fully meet current
		and ongoing obligation, can
		feel secured in their financial
		future and is able to make
		choices that allow enjoyment
		in life.
Educational level	Independent variable	Level of Education of a
		retiree
Marital status	Indonandant variable	Marital status of a retiree
Maritar status	Independent variable	Marital status of a retiree
Retirement planning	Independent variable	Preparation that the retirees
g	r	made towards retirement
		specifically to be accessed
		during retirement in order to
		support monthly allowance
Dependents	Independent variable	Number of dependents living
		with retiree
Extra income	Independent variable	Other sources of income
LAHA IIICOIIIC	macpendent variable	available to retirees apart
		from the monthly allowance
		from Government
	(2016)	nom Government

Source: Author's construct (2016)

Chapter Summary

This chapter articulated the chosen research design and justified it in terms of the research objectives and questions. It also discussed the study area, the sampling procedure, the data collection instrument, data processing and analysis. The next chapter encompasses result and discussion of the study.

CHAPTER FOUR RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Introduction

The preceding chapter presented the research methods employed for the study. This chapter, however, focuses on the data collected and analyzed in accordance with the objectives and research questions raised in Chapter one. Chapter three begins with analysis of the background information of the respondents and then follows with the analysis of responses to address the research questions. Descriptive statistics such as frequencies, percentages, means and standard deviations were employed.

Background Information of Respondents

The background information of the respondents studied included, sex, age bracket, marital status, educational level, years of working experience, status or rank, retirement at statutory age, education on money management and decision on retirement savings. In order to put the study into perspective, this background information was studied to serve as the basis for differentiation with regards to the relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in Ghana Immigration Service. The background information of the respondents is captured in Table 3.

It can be observed from Table 3 that majority 213(53.3%) of the respondents are males while the remaining 87(46.8%) are females. The dominance of males compared to females is supported by the labour force participation rates in Ghana for the elderly. According to the Ghana Statistical Service (2013), the proportion of the male elderly (9.2%) of the labour force is slightly higher than that of their female counterparts (8.6%). Gender gaps in financial literacy have been identified by empirical studies to have a relation with the level of financial knowledge. For instance, Fonseca, Mullen, Zamarro and Zissimopolos (2010) disclosed that gender gaps in financial literacy may contribute to the differences in retirement preparedness between men and women.

Most of the respondents, 94(23.5%), age fell within the age bracket 30-34 years. This was followed by 80(20%) of the respondents whose age fell within the age brackets 25-29 years. About 76(19%) of the respondents age

fell within the age bracket 40-44 years. Approximately 52(13%) of the respondents age fell within the age bracket 45 years and above.

Table 3 further captures the distribution of respondents' marital status. From the table majority 272(68%) of the respondents are married. Ninety eight representing (24.5%) of the respondents indicated that they are single. Approximately seven percent are either divorced or separated. Married couples consume goods and services such as housing and entertainment together at the same cost as an unmarried person. These economies of scale may translate into additional wealth or consumption. Marriage lessens risks associated with fluctuations in income and, as a result, may lower precautionary savings against income shocks or other shocks (Zissimopoulos, Karney & Rauer, 2008) and this could impact on financial well-being of retirees.

With respect to educational level of the respondents, the data shows that most 184(46%) of the respondents have had university education. About 134(33.5%) have had senior high school education and approximately 62(15.5%) have had training college/polytechnic education. Education advances an individual's position in the distribution of investment income as a percentage of the individual's total income. Better educated individuals choose portfolios that yield higher returns (Cole & Shastry, 2007). This financial decision requires financial literacy and in the end the decision could have an influence on financial well-being.

The distribution of respondents view on the years of working experience is further captured in Table 3. From the distribution, most 133(33%) of the respondents years of working experience fell within 6-10 years. This was followed by 116(29%) which is attributable to 16-20 years. A quarter of the respondents' years of working experience fell with the bracket 11-15 years.

The figure in Table 3 shows that most 140(35%) of the respondents are within the middle level management status. About 114(28.5%) are within the lower level management status within the service. Twenty two percent of the respondents are within the top level management status while the remaining (15%) do not fall within any of the management levels. The expertise acquired in the various work positions of the respondents has a bearing on their

financial literacy and well-being. For example Mahdzan and Tabiani (2013) hypothesized that the number of years of work experience is positively related to savings. The reason being that, through career people deal with several financial decisions and so they have a greater realization of the importance of savings (Mahdzan & Tabiani, 2013). This work experience makes individuals more careful with money and this could enhance their financial well-being.

Table 3: Background Information of Respondents

Background Information	Frequency	Percent (%)
Sex		
Male	213	53.3
Female	187	46.8
Age Bracket (years)		
20-24 years	26	6.5
25-29 years	80	20.0
30-34 years	94	23.5
35-39 years	72	18.0
40-44 years	76	19.0
45+ years	52	13.0
Marital Status		
Single	98	24.5
Divorced/Separated	26	6.5
Married	272	68.0
Widow	4	1.0
Educational Level		
Middle School/Junior High School	20	5.0
Training College /Polytechnic	62	15.5
Senior High School	134	33.5
University	184	46.0

Years of Working		
1-5 years	54	13.5
6-10 years	132	33.0
11-15 years	98	24.5
16-20 years	116	29.0
Status or Rank		
Employee	58	14.5
Middle Level Management	140	35.0
Top Management	88	22.0
Lower Management	114	28.5
Will you Retire at Statutory Age		
Yes	310	77.5
No	90	22.5
Training or Education on Money Management	t	
Yes	256	64.0
No	144	36.0
Decision on retirement savings or Investments		
Yes	340	85.0
No	60	15.0
Source: Field survey, (2017) $N = 400$		

Majority 310(77.5%) of the respondents shared the view that they will retire at the statutory age while the remaining 90(22.56%) indicated that they will not retire at the statutory age. It is common to see people refusing voluntary retirement due to low benefits and insecurity associated with retirement. Even at age 60, some people still see themselves as too young to retire. This is due to the fact that the statutory age for retirement in developing

countries like Ghana is 60 years whilst it is 65 years in some developed countries (Ghana Statistical Service, 2013).

Majority, 256(64%), of the respondents expressed the view that they have had some form of training or education on money management but 144(36%) indicated that they have not had some form of training or education on money management. Eighty five percent of the respondents expressed the view that they have made plans or take decision on retirement savings or investment while (15%) indicated that they have not made plans or take decision on retirement savings or investment.

Financial Literacy level among Employees of Ghana Immigration Service

Financial literacy plays a major role in the economic development of the world's economies. This role is more vital in the developing countries where poverty exist in pandemic proportions. Improved knowledge on financial issues is key in channeling resources to more productive use and is an important mechanism for enhancing household income and livelihoods. In view of this research objective one therefore explores the financial literacy level among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service.

Financial literacy level is assessed using the financial literacy index which is constructed for this study. To better understand the nature of the distribution of the correct scores, percentile distributions of the scores were computed before the financial literacy index was constructed. The index was constructed using ten objective type questions. All the financial literacy items were pooled together to form an index which represents financial literacy. Table 4 presents the percentile distribution of correct scores for the respondents.

Table 4: Minimum to Maximum Score, Number of Respondents and Percentage

Correct Score (%)	Number of Respondents	Percentage of Sample Size
00	2	0.5
10	2	0.5
20	10	2.5
30	22	5.5
40	36	9.0
50	42	10.5
60	56	14.0
70	76	19.0
80	102	25.5
90	46	11.5
100	6	1.5
Total	400	100.0

Source: Field survey, (2017)

It could be observed from Table 4 that two (0.5%) of the respondents did not get any of the ten objective questions on financial literacy correct. A further (0.5%) of respondents had one out of the ten objective questions correct which represents 10 percent. About 328(82%) of the respondents scored above 50 percent and thus puts the majority of the employees of the service in the high literacy category as stated by the Chen and Volpe (2002). Alternately, six respondents representing (1.5%) scored the maximum of 100 percent. Furthermore, acknowledging the dynamics in the scores in the various financial literacy questions revealed some more useful information. Table 5 therefore shows the responses gathered from the financial literacy measures used.

From the distribution of respondents view in Table 5, it can observed that majority 322(80.5%) of the respondents answered the question on monthly budget correctly. This finding supports the view that in the midst of fewer resources, the people need to plan their expenditure. The best way to

harness the power of one's income is the use of monthly budget (Ramsey, 2014) and this will help individuals with the management of their finances.

On the issue of the use of Automatic Teller Machine (ATM), majority (89%) of the respondents answered correctly in terms of first thing to do when you want to withdraw money from the ATM, but 44(11%) answered the question incorrectly. It appears to mean that greater majority of the respondents have knowledge on the use of ATM. It could further be assumed that most of the respondents are conversant with the ATM.

Majority of the respondents, thus 368, representing 92 percent were knowledgeable on how to deal with wrong debit at the bank, but the remaining 32(8%) of the respondents do not have knowledge on how to deal with wrong debit at the bank. When the respondents were asked which type of bank account pays the most interest, majority 232(58%) of them answered the question correctly, but 168(42%) answered the question wrongly. The finding appears to mean that most respondents in the service have knowledge on accounts type such as current account, savings account and certificate of deposit is quite high. The respondents were aware of the fact that certificate of deposits pays higher interest compared to savings account.

From the figures in Table 5, it can be seen that the respondents were quite familiar with calculation of interest on loan. Three hundred and twenty four representing 81 percent of the respondents had the answer to that question correct but 76(19%) respondents answered the question incorrectly. This finding is consistent with Lusardi (2008) views. Lusardi asserted that decisions about how much to accumulate and how much to borrow to be able to smooth consumption over the life-cycle requires an understanding of how interest rates work.

Furthermore, 180(45%) of the respondents were able to answer the question on co-signing a loan for a friend correctly, but majority 220(55%) answered the question wrongly. This finding appears to be a problem because most people in the service do not know that if one co-signs a loan for another, the one becomes liable to pay that loan if the person defaults in payment. In spite of the risks inherent in co-signing a loan, there may be times that one may have to do it. But before one co-signs, one must consider how that might affect the person's financial well-being (Federal Trade Commission, 2012).

Again, it could be inferred from Table 5 that the respondents had adequate knowledge on who is usually charged a fee when a cheque bounces. Two hundred and ninety eight (74.5%) of the respondents answered the question posed correctly, while 102(25.5%) of the respondents answered the question incorrectly. This could be attributed to the fact that the majority of the respondents in the service use cheques for transactions and are therefore aware of it. It is important that employees in the service are in the known so that they do not become liable to incur such charges.

About 120 respondents (30%) answered the question on the future value of savings correctly, but majority 280 respondents (70%) answered the question wrongly. This appears to show low calculation skills among the respondents. Gamble, Boyle, Yu and Bennett (2015), confirmed a decline in the cognitive ability of the elderly people as shown in the background information of the respondents, which is associated with significant decline in financial literacy. They added that declining cognition has a noticeable adverse effect on financial literacy.

From Table 5, two hundred and six respondents (51.1%) answered correctly the question on the purchasing power of money given inflation whilst 194 respondents (48.5%) answered the question posed wrongly. It could be assumed that because individuals have to collect information and make forecasts about many variables, from social security and pensions to interest rates and projected inflation. Lusardi (2008), affirms the performance of respondents on this measure. On the main reason why insurance is purchased, 194 respondents (48.5%) answered that question correctly, but majority 206 (51.1%) answered that question wrongly. It is evident from the response that the most respondents do not know more about insurance.

Table 5: Financial Literacy Questions and the Total Response

Questions	Responses		
	Correct	Incorrect	
	N(%)	N(%)	
Personal budget			
	322(80.5)	78(19.5)	
Use of ATM			
	356(89)	44(11)	
Wrong debit			
	368(92)	32(8)	
Bank account interest	232(58)	168(42)	
Loan interest	324(81)	76(19)	
Co-sign a loan			
	180(45)	220(55)	
Bounced cheque			
	298(74.5)	102(25.5)	
Future value			
	120(30)	280(70)	
Purchasing power of money given inflation			
	206(51.5)	194(48.5)	
Reason for insurance	194(48.5)	206(51.5)	

Source: Field survey, (2017)

After discussing the percentile distribution and the dynamics in the scores of the financial literacy measures, the financial literacy index was constructed to assess the composite effect of financial literacy among the respondents. The index was constructed based on the percentage of correct answers that respondents gave to each of the ten objective questions posed to the respective respondents. According to Behrman, Mitchell and Soo (2010), the construction of the financial literacy index using the sophisticated methods performs about same as the simple additive approach.

Alternately, Hastings and Mitchell (2011) employed a similar simple approach. The use of the mean percentage of correct scores to determine the level of financial literacy is consistent with Chen and Volpe (2002), Jones (2006), Hung, Parker and Yoong (2009), Hassan Al-Tamimi and Anood Bin Kalli (2009), Ibrahim and Alqaydi (2013) and Mireku (2015).

Table 6 presents the descriptive statistics of the constructed financial literacy index. The results from Table 6 show that the average financial literacy score for the respondents is 65.0 percent (M = 65.0, SD = 19.77). The mean, as a measure of central tendency and standard deviation, as the appropriate measure of dispersion, is used to describe financial literacy.

Table 6: Descriptive Statistics for Financial Literacy

	N	Min	Max	Mean	Std. Dev
Financial Literacy Score	400	0	100.00	65.0	19.77315
Valid N (listwise)	400				

Source: Field survey, (2017)

The mean percentage of correct score of 65.0 percent reveals that the respondents from the Ghana Immigration Service have high financial literacy level as per the benchmark given by Chen and Volpe (2002). The benchmark grouped the mean percentage of correct scores into three categories as: 0 to 39 percent (low level of financial knowledge), 40 to 59 percent (medium level of financial knowledge) and 60 to 100 percent (high level of financial knowledge).

The average financial literacy score of 65.0 percent reported in this study is higher than what was reported by Ibrahim and Alqaydi (2013) which was 43.3 percent using individuals from service organisations in the United Arab Emirates (UAE). Hassan Al-Tamimi and Anood Bin Kalli (2009), who studied investors in the local financial market in the UAE also recorded a financial literacy rate of 40.65 percent; with a sample which included 3.1 percent of respondents who were aged fifty-six to sixty-five. Mireku (2015) who conducted a study among university students in Ghana recorded an overall financial literacy average score of 48.6 percent. Mireku's finding was

slightly lower than the 53 percent reported by Chen and Volpe (1998) whose study surveyed college students in some selected states in America.

According to Xu and Zia (2012), financial literacy tends to peak among adults and is usually lowest among the elderly. Klapper, Lusardi and Oudhensden (2015) confirmed that financial literacy rates are lower for adults older than 50 years but lowest among those older than 65 years. Nevertheless, the level of financial literacy reported in this study is higher than what was reported by Klapper, Lusardi and Oudhensden (2015) for Ghana. Their study recorded an adult financial literacy rate of 32 percent for Ghana for the year 2014. The target population used in their study consisted of individuals aged fifteen and above, excluding prisoners and soldiers. Therefore, these individuals belonged to different employment sectors in the county.

Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning and Preparation

Retirement is a complex social phenomenon that signifies the detachment from customary activities in business, industry, or active services as a full time employee. Retirement means to stop or withdraw from working simply because one has reached a particular age; either by chronological age or by virtue of years spent in service. In this regard research objective two sought to examine the impact of financial literacy on retirement planning and preparation among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service.

To determine the extent to which financial literacy impact retirement planning and preparation among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service, the standard simple regression was found to be more appropriate. The results indicate how well the financial literacy predict retirement planning and preparation. It also indicates how much unique variance in the independent variables (financial literacy) explains the dependent variable (retirement planning and preparation) as reflected in Table 7.

Table 7: Model Summary

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.119ª	.014	.012	.97362

Source: Field survey, (2017)

- a. Predictors: (Constant), financial literacy
- b. Dependent variable: retirement planning and preparation

From Table 7, the simple regression analysis (model summary) indicates that the independent variable met the entry requirement to be included in the equation. The R (.119) shows a weak positive correlation between the predictive variable (financial literacy) and the dependent variable (retirement planning and preparation). The R-square value indicates that about 14% of the variance in retirement planning and preparation is explained by financial literacy. This implies that 86% of retirement planning and preparation is explained by other variables apart from the financial literacy.

Table 8 shows result of the impact of the financial literacy on retirement preparation and planning. From the Table, a p-value of 0.017 implies that financial literacy have significant effect on retirement planning and preparation, and thus there is a linear relationship between the former and the later. This shows that the null hypothesis is rejected at an alpha value of 0.05.

Table 8: ANOVA

			Mean Square	F	Sig.
Regression	5.437	1	5.437	5.736	.017(a)
Residual	377.282	398	.948		
Total	382.720	399			

Source: Field survey (2017)

p-value > 0.001

a Predictors: (Constant), Total of financial literacy

b Dependent Variable: retirement preparation and planning

The β value in Table 9 indicates that financial literacy has relative significant influence on retirement planning and preparation of employees with the Ghana Immigration Service (β = 0.119, p-value = 0.017), expressed in percentage form as 11.9%. A p-value of 0.017 associated with financial literacy shows that its contribution to retirement planning and preparation is significant. This is because the p-value of 0.017 is less than the acceptable margin error of 0.05. We reject the null hypothesis that there is no significant relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning and preparation among employees in Ghana Immigration Service.

Table 9: Coefficient

	Unstar	ndardized	Standardized		
	Coef	ficients	Coefficients		
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta (β)	t	Sig.
(Constant)	2.920	.167		17.439	.000
Financial literacy	0.006	.002	0.119	2.395	.017

Source: Field survey (2017)

a. Dependent Variable: Retirement Planning and Preparation

The study therefore concludes that there is a significant positive relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning and preparation among employees with the Ghana Immigration Service. This finding is similar to the findings of Wang and Hesketh (2012) who disclosed that financial literacy has a positive effect on retirement planning. Retirement planning is a powerful predictor of wealth accumulation because low wealth can be traced to lack of retirement planning (Lusardi & Beeler, 2006) and those who plan have more than double the wealth of those who have not done any retirement planning (Lusardi, 2008).

Financial Literacy and Financial Well-being

Financial well-being is considered as a comprehensive concept comprising financial satisfaction, objective status of financial situation, financial perception, and behavior that cannot be assessed through one measure. It is further seen as a function of individual characteristics, financial management, and financial knowledge and skills. In line with this the three objective sought to examine the effect of financial literacy on financial well-being of employees' in Ghana Immigration Service.

The results of the linear regression conducted through the model estimation are presented in Tables 10, 11 and 12. The validity of regression results hinges on the correct specification and estimation of the model. These are tested by analyzing the model summary and diagnostics of the model. Table 10 accordingly shows the model summary of the regression estimation.

Table 10: Model Summary of Relationship and Amount of Variation Test

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.146ª	.021	.019	.79455

Source: Field survey, (2017)

a. Predictors: (Constant), financial literacy

b. Dependent variable: financial well-being

The R (.146) shows a weak positive correlation between the predictive variable (financial literacy) and the dependent variable (financial well-being). The Adjusted R Square from the results in Table 10 explains the amount of variation that exists in the dependent variable caused by the independent variables. Therefore, the results indicate that there is 19 percent variation in financial wellbeing as the dependent variable explained by the independent variables (financial literacy). The remaining 81 percent of the variation in financial well-being is explained by the residual thus other factors apart from financial literacy.

ANOVA was estimated to see if there is a linear relationship between the variables identified and whether the variation in the dependent variable can be explained by the predictive variable. Table 11 presents the output from the ANOVA results of the linear regression.

Table 11: ANOVA (Linearity Test)

Model	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Regression	5.510	1	5.510	8.728	.003(a)
Residual	251.260	398	.631		
Total	256.770	399		·	•
Source: Field	guryay (2017)	n vol	uo > 0 001		

Source: Field survey (2017)

p-value > 0.001

a Predictors: (Constant), Total of financial literacy

b Dependent Variable: financial well-being

The results in Table 11 show that the F-statistics of the ANOVA is statistically significant at 5% level (F-statistic = 8.728, p < 0.05). Therefore the null hypothesis is rejected. Hence it could be concluded that the variation in the dependent variable can be explained by the linear regression model specified. Further, the test for coefficient regression results is shown in Table 12.

Table 12: Coefficient

·	Unstand	lardized	Standardized		•
	Coeffi	cients	Coefficients		
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta (β)	T	Sig.
(Constant)	2.853	.137		20.878	.000
Financial literacy	-0.006	.002	-0.146	-2.954	.003

Source: Field survey (2017)

a. Dependent Variable: Financial Well-being

The β value indicates that financial literacy has relative significant negative influence on financial well-being of employees with the Ghana Immigration Service (β = -0.146, p-value = 0.003), expressed in percentage form as 14.6%. A p-value of 0.003 associated with financial literacy shows that its contribution to financial well-being is significant. This is because the p-value of 0.017 is less than the acceptable margin error of 0.05. This further

implies that a unit change in financial literacy leads to about -0.146 change in financial well-being of employees with the Ghana Immigration Service.

We reject the null hypothesis that there is no significant relationship between financial literacy and finical well-being among employees in Ghana Immigration Service. The study therefore concludes that there is a significant negative relationship between financial literacy and financial well-being among employees with the Ghana Immigration Service.

The finding is inconsistent with prior studies, financial literacy impacts on financial wellbeing directly and positively (Sabri, 2011). Financial literacy also influences perceived financial well-being significantly (Sabri, Cook & Gudmunson, 2012). Taft et al. (2013) similarly revealed that higher financial literacy leads to greater financial well-being. Huston (2010) also asserted that, financial literacy enhances financial well-being. Similarly, According to Robb and Woodyard (2011), the financial well-being of individuals is incumbent on their actions. Therefore, when people who are financially literate apply the knowledge to manage their income effectively, and as well plan for retirement, then they are most likely to be better off with regards to their financial well-being. This will enable them to save and consume some of their income to smooth their consumption over the lifetime.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Introduction

The study examined the relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in Ghana Immigration Service. This chapter presents the summary of the findings of the study as well as the conclusions drawn from them. The chapter further gives recommendations based on the key findings of the study and also outlines suggestions for further research.

Summary

This section presents the summary of the findings in view of the objectives of the study. The general purpose of the study was to examine the relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in Ghana Immigration Service. It specifically purport to explore the financial literacy level among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service. The study further examines the impact of financial literacy on retirement planning and preparation among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service. It finally examined the effect of financial literacy on financial well-being of employees' in Ghana Immigration Service.

Stratified random sampling method was used to sample a total of 400 respondents. Data obtained from respondents were coded and analyzed with Statistical Product and Service Solutions (SPSS) version 21. Descriptive statistics such as means, standard deviations, frequencies, and percentages were used to describe the data. Tables were constructed for items to support the analysis and aid further discussion. Inferential statistics employed were the simple regression tool to the determine relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in Ghana Immigration Service. Furthermore. Questionnaires were employed in the collection of data to address the research objectives. The data were personally collected by the researcher after explaining the purpose and assuring respondents of confidentiality.

Key Findings

The following are the summary of the key findings of the study. In addressing the first research objective which sought to explore the financial literacy level among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service. The following key findings emerged.

- 1. The maximum score for the financial literacy questions posed to the respondents was 100 percent. It was found out that only two persons scored the minimum marks out of 400 respondents and also six respondents scored the maximum 100 percent. However, it was evident from the findings that majority of the respondents scored 50 percent and above which puts them in the high literacy category.
- 2. To further assess the dynamics in the level of financial literacy, the responses gathered from the ten financial literacy questions were also analysed. It was discovered that employees with the Ghana Immigration Service were knowledgeable about personal budget, use of ATM, wrong debit, bank account interest, loan interest, bounced cheque and purchasing power of money given inflation. On the other hand, the employees were challenged with co-signing a loan, calculation on future value of money and the main reason to purchase insurance. Therefore, the employees were more knowledgeable in seven dimensions and less knowledgeable in the remaining three dimensions too, which confirms the high literacy of employees in the service as revealed earlier in the percentile distributions.
- 3. Again, the financial literacy index constructed to assess the composite effect of financial literacy among the employees was also used. The descriptive statistics of the index showed that the employees had a high financial literacy, which was consistent with the earlier assessments of financial literacy level among the employees.

The second research objective sought to examine the impact of financial literacy on retirement planning and preparation among employees' in Ghana Immigration Service. The following are the key findings were found.

1. The linear regression model specified for this objective revealed that financial literacy had a significant effect on retirement planning and

preparation at 5% level. The value of the standardized coefficient also showed a positive effect of financial literacy on retirement planning and preparation. Thus, as the financial literacy of the employees with the Ghana Immigration Service increased, it corresponded with their retirement planning and preparations.

2. The null hypothesis is rejected and the alternate affirmed. This confirms that there is a significant relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning and preparation of employees with the Ghana Immigration Service.

In answering the third research objective, which sought to examine the effect of financial literacy on financial well-being of employees' in Ghana Immigration Service, the following key findings were discovered.

- The linear regression model specified for this objective revealed that financial literacy had a significant effect on financial well-being at 5% level. The value (-0.146) of the standardized coefficient (β) also showed a negative effect of financial literacy on financial well-being. Thus, as the financial literacy of the employees with the Ghana Immigration Service increased, their financial well-being rather decreases.
- The null hypothesis is therefore rejected and the alternate affirmed.
 This means that there is a significant relationship between financial literacy and financial well-being of employees with the Ghana Immigration Service.

Conclusions

In as much as financial literacy is key to the financial well-being of most individuals, it continues to be a major challenge. The purpose of the study was to examine the relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in Ghana Immigration Service. The ensuing conclusions are drawn from the findings of the study. It was evident from the findings that high level financial literacy was exhibited among the employees in the service. This high level financial literacy could be attributed to the fact that most employees in the service have gain some information or education

on financial issues through various medium available to them at the workplace.

In addition, it was found that financial literacy has a positive and a significant effect on retirement planning and preparation. This means that the financial literacy levels of the employees improve or increase, it leads to a corresponding increase or improvement in their quest for retirement planning and preparation. Finally, financial literacy has a negative and a significant effect on financial well-being. The finding means that as financial literacy of the employees' in the service increase it leads to a decrease in their financial well-being.

Recommendations

In view of the findings made and conclusions drawn from the study the following recommendation are made.

It is recommended that employees are periodically advised by financial experts and analysts during meetings on the benefits inherent in utilizing one's financial knowledge since it has an impact on their overall well-being.

Since investment decision has received greater attention in recent times, it is believed that an increase in investment awareness by employees will prompt and help them to make better financial decisions concerning investment plans to secure their future when they retire from active service.

In order to further boost and sustain the high levels of the financial literacy of employees within the service, decision makers should specifically design programmes and policies targeted at consolidating the gains made in the area of financial literacy so that the employees will be well abreast with current trends.

Suggestion for Further Studies

It is recommended that a comparative study should be carried out to examine the relationship between financial literacy and retirement planning of employees in other security service, i.e. the Ghana police service and Ghana Armed Forces.

REFERENCES

- ACNielsen Research (2005). ANZ survey of adult financial literacy in Australia: Final report. Melbourne: ACNielsen Research.
- Adam, A. M. (2015). Statistics for business research, a guide for non-statisticians. Cape Coast: Global Research.
- Adenutsi, D. E. (2009). *Retirement planning: Conceptualisation, challenges and policy options*. Accra, Ghana: Glistein Strategic Solutions
- Agarwalla, S. K., Barua, S., Jacob, J., & Varma, J. R. (2012). A survey of financial literacy among students, young employees and the retired in *India*. Ahmedabad India: Indian Institute of Management.
- Agarwal, S., Driscoll, J. C., Gabaix, X., & Laibson, D. (2009). The age of reason: Financial decisions over the life cycle and implications for regulation. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 2009 (2), 51-117.
- Ando, A., & Modigliani, F. (1963). The life cycle hypothesis of saving: Aggregate implications and tests. *The American Economic Review*, 53(1), 55-84.
- Anielski, M. (2012). Redesigning money for well-being and happiness.

 Retrieved from http://philosophersforchange.org
- Ansong, A., & Gyensare, M. A. (2012). Determinants of university working students' financial literacy at the University of Cape Coast, Ghana. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 7(9), 126-133.
- Asaad, C. T. (2013). Two essays in finance: cultural finance and behavioral financial literacy. Kent State: University Press.
- Ashforth, B. (2000). Role transitions in organizational life: An identity-based perspective. Arizona: State University.
- Atakora, A. (2013). Measuring the effectiveness of financial literacy programs in Ghana. *International Journal of Management and Business Research*, 3(2), 135-148.
- Atia, C. (2012). Building a financially literate society for development: The CAMFED Campaign for Female Education model. Ghana Institute of Linguistics, Literacy and Bible Translation Conference Centre, Tamale.

- Atkinson, A. & Messy, F. (2012). Measuring financial literacy: Results of the OECD / International Network on Financial Education (INFE) Pilot Study. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5k9csfs90fr4-en
- Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited ABN. (2005). ANZ financial literacy & inclusion: Global benchmark report. Sydney: The Corporate Citizenship Company. Australia.
- Australian and New Zealand Banking Group. (2015). ANZ survey of adult financial literacy in Australia. Sydney: The Social Research Centre. Australia.
- AXIS (2016). Retire in style: A road to your financial future. Retirement planning guide for the Ghanaian workers. Accra: Pension Administration Services Limited, Ghana.
- Babbie, E. R. (2007). *The practice of social research*. Belmont, CA: Thomson Wadsworth.
- Bahonar, Z. & Sadrabadi, M. M. (2014). Investigating the relationship between financial literacy and properity and the deterining association with demographic variables. *Indian Journal of Fundamental and Applied Life Sciences*, 4(S1), 1143-1152.
- Barnes-Farrell, J. L. (2003). Beyond health and wealth: Attitudinal and other influences on retirement decision-making. In Adams, G. & Beehr, T. (Eds), *Retirement: Reasons, processes, and results,* (159-187). New York: Sage.
- Behrman, J. R., Mitchell, O. S., Soo, C., & Bravo, D. (2010). *Financial literacy, schooling, and wealth accumulation*. Pennsylvania:

 Population Ageing Research Centre.
- Bergstresser, D. B., Chalmers, J., & Tufano, P. (2009). Assessing the Costs and Benefits of Brokers in the Mutual Fund Industry: *The Review of Financial Studies*, 22(10), 4129-4156.
- Bhattacharya, U., Hackethal, A., Kaesler, S., Loos, B., & Meyer, S. (2012). Is unbiased financial advice to retail investors sufficient? Answers from a large field study. *The Review of Financial Studies*, *25*(4), 975-1032.

- Boddy, D., Dokko, J., Hershbein, B., & Kearney, M. S. (2015). *Ten economic facts about financial well-being in retirement*. Brookings: Hamilton Project.
- Boeri, T., Börsch-Supan, A., & Tabellini, G. (2002). Pension reforms and the opinions of European citizens. *American Economic Review*, 92(2), 396-401.
- Browning, M & T. F. Crossley (2001). *The life-cycle model of consumption and saving*. London: Institute for Fiscal Studies
- Browning, M., & Lusardi, A. (1996). Household saving: Micro theories and micro facts. *Journal of Economic literature*, 34(4), 1797-185
- Bucher-Koenen, T., & Lusardi, A. (2011). Financial literacy and retirement planning in Germany. *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance*, 10(04), 565-584.
- Bucher-Koenen, T., Lusardi, A., Alessie, R., & van Rooij, M. (2012). *How financially literate are women: Some new perspectives on the gender gap.* Network for Studies on Pensions, Aging and Retirement.
- Cape Coast Municipal Assembly (2014). The composite budget of the Cape Coast municipal assembly for the 2014 fiscal year. Cape Coast: Author.
- Chen, H., & Volpe, R. P. (1998). An analysis of personal financial literacy among college students. *Financial Services Review*, 7(2), 107-128.
- Chen, H., & Volpe, R. P. (2002). Gender differences in personal financial literacy among college students. *Financial Services Review*, 11, 289-307.
- Choi, N. G. (2001). Relationship between life satisfaction and postretirement employment among older women. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, *52*(1), 45-70.
- Clark, R. L., d'Ambrosio, M. B., McDermed, A. A., & Sawant, K. (2006). Retirement plans and saving decisions: the role of information and education. *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance*, 5(1), 45-67.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). New Jersey: Routledge, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates,

- Cole, S., & Fernando, N. (2008). Assessing the importance of financial literacy. *ADB Finance for the Poor*, 9(2), 1-6.
- Cole, S. A., & Shastry, G. K. (2008). If you are so smart, why aren't you rich? The effects of education, financial literacy and cognitive ability on financial market participation. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Business School.
- Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (2015). Financial well-being: The goal of financial education. Wisconsin: Corporation for Enterprise Development,
- Cookes, S. J., & Steed, L. G. (2003). SPSS Analysis without Anguish Version 11.0 for Windows. Sydney: John Wiley & Sons.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). Nebraska-Lincoln: Sage publications.
- Elder Jr, G. H. (1985). *Perspectives on the life course*. New York: Cornell University Press.
- Elder Jr, G. H. (1994). Time, human agency, and social change: Perspectives on the life course. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, *57*, 4-15.
- Elder Jr, G. H. (1995). *The life course paradigm: Social change and individual development*. Washington DC: American Psychological Associations
- Ellickson, J. (1988). Never the twain shall meet: Aging men and women in Bangladesh. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 3(1), 53-70.
- Ellis, R. R., & Simmons, T. (2014). *Coresident grandparents and their grandchildren*. New York: Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration.
- Estes, C. L. (2001). *Social policy and aging: A critical perspective*. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.
- European Commission (2010). Financial services policy and financial markets. Fifth meeting of the expert group on financial education.

 Brussels: Author.
- Falahati, L. & Paim, L. (2011). Gender differences in financial well-being among college students. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, 5(9), 1765-1776.

- Falahati, L., & Sabri, M. F. (2015). An exploratory study of personal financial wellbeing determinants: Examining the moderating effect of gender. *Asian Social Science*, 11(4), 33-43.
- Fazli Sabri, M., Cook, C. C., & Gudmunson, C. G. (2012). Financial well-being of Malaysian college students. *Asian Education and Development Studies*, *1*(2), 153-170.
- Federal Trade Commission (2012). *Consumer information, co-signing a loan*. Retrieved from https://www.consumer.ftc.gov
- Fluellen, V. M. (2013). Exploring the relationship between financial behaviors and financial well-being of African American college students at one historically black institution. Iowa: Iowa State University.
- Fonseca, R., Mullen, K. J., Zamarro, G., & Zissimopoulos, J. (2010). What explains the gender gap in financial literacy? The role of household decision-making., California: Population Research Centre
- Fox, J., Bartholomae, S., & Lee, J. (2005). Building the case for financial education: *The Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 39, 195–214.
- Gamble, K. J., Boyle, P. A., Yu, L., & Bennett, D. A. (2015). *How does aging affect financial decision making*? Boston: Centre for Retirement Research.
- Garman, T. E., & Forgue, R. E. (2006). *Personal finance* (8th ed.). Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- George, L. K. (1993). Sociological perspectives on life transitions. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 19, 353-373.
- George, L. K. (1996). Missing links: The case for a social psychology of the life course. *The Gerontologist*, *36*(2), 248-255.
- Ghana Statistical Service (2013). 2010 Population & housing census report: The elderly in Ghana. Accra: GSS.
- Ghana Statistical Service (2014). *Population projection by sex, 2010 to 2014, National. Retrieved* from http/www.statsghana.gov.gh.
- Ghana Statistical Service (2014). 2010 Population & housing census: District analytical report. Accra: GSS.

- Ghauri, P. & Gronhaug, K. (2005). *Research methods in business studies* (3rd Ed.). London: Prentice Hall.
- Glaser, M., & Klos, A. (2013). Causal evidence on regular internet use and stock market participation. Berlin: Institute for Quantitative Business and Economics Research.
- Goold, M. R. G, (2007). *Retirement: Effects of a psychoeducational program.*Queensland: Bond University.
- Gowri, M. (2014). A study on financial literacy among young employees in Coimbatore City. Peelamedu: GRG School of Management Studies
- Grinstein-Weiss, M., Wagner, K., & Ssewamala, F. M. (2006). Saving and asset accumulation among low-income families with children in IDAs. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 28(2), 193-211.
- Grix, J. (2004). *The foundations of research* (2nd ed.). London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Groebner, D. F., Shannon, P. W., Fry, P. C. & Smith, K. D. (2000). *Business statistics: A decision-making approach* (5th ed.). New Jersey: Prentice Hall,
- Gyabaah, N. (2009). Ghana's national strategy for financial literacy and consumer protection in the microfinance sector, promoting financial capability and consumer protection in Ghana. Accra: Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning.
- Hassan Al-Tamimi, H. A., & Anood Bin Kalli, A. (2009). Financial literacy and investment decisions of UAE investors. *The Journal of Risk Finance*, 10(5), 500-516
- Hastings, J. S., Madrian, B. C., & Skimmyhorn, W. L. (2012). Financial literacy, financial education and economic outcomes. Massachusetts:National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Hastings, J. S., & Mitchell, O. S. (2011). How financial literacy and impatience shape retirement wealth and investment behaviors.

 Massachusetts: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Healy, M., & Perry, C. (2000). Comprehensive criteria to judge validity and reliability of qualitative research within the realism paradigm. *Qualitative market research: An International Journal*, *3*(3), 118-126.

- Healey, J. F. (2010). *Statistics: A tool for social research*. Boston: Cengage Learning.
- Hess, B. B. (1985). Aging policies and old women: The hidden agenda. New York: Sage.
- Hira, T. K., & Mugenda, O. (2000). Gender differences in financial perceptions, behaviors and satisfaction. *Journal of Financial Planning-Denver*, 13(2), 86-93.
- Hogarth, J. M., & Hilgert, M. A. (2002). Financial knowledge, experience and learning preferences: Preliminary results from a new survey on financial literacy. *Consumer Interest Annual*, 48(1), 1-7.
- Hooyman, N.R. and H.A. Kiyak. (2002). *Social gerontology: A multidisciplinary perspective*. Boston: Alyn and Bacon
- Hsu, J. W. (2011). Aging and strategic learning: *The impact of spousal incentives on financial literacy*. Indiana: Indiana State University.
- Hsu, J. W. (2015). Aging and strategic learning: the impact of spousal incentives on financial literacy: Aging and strategic learning. Michigan: University of Michigan.
- Hung, A., Parker, A. M., & Yoong, J. (2009). *Defining and measuring financial literacy*. California: RAND Corporation.
- Hurst, E., Luoh, M. C., Stafford, F. P., & Gale, W. G. (1998). The wealth dynamics of American families, 1984-94. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 1(1), 267-337.
- Huston, S. J. (2010). Measuring financial literacy. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 44(2), 296-316.
- Hutcheson, G. D., & Sofroniou, N. (1999). The multivariate social scientist:

 Introductory statistics using generalized linear models. Manchester:

 University of Manchester.
- Ibrahim, M. E., & Alqaydi, F. R. (2013). Financial literacy, personal financial attitude, and forms of personal debt among residents of the UAE. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, *5*(7), 126-138.
- Inaja, E., & Martha-Rose, C. I. A. (2013). Perception and attitude towards preretirement counselling among Nigerian civil servants. *Global Journal of Human-Social Science Research*, 13(1), 1-7.

- Jacob, K., Hudson, S., & Bush, M. (2000). Tools for Survival: An Analysis of Financial Literacy Programs. Chicago: Woodstock Institute.
- Jones, J. E. (2006). *College students' knowledge and use of credit*. Stillwater: Oklahoma State University.
- Joo, S. H., & Grable, J. E. (2004). An exploratory framework of the determinants of financial satisfaction. *Journal of Family and Economic*, 25(1), 25-50.
- Joo, S. (2008). *Personal financial wellness*. Korea: Consumer Finance Research.
- Kaiser, H. F. (1970). A second generation little jiffy. *Psychometrika*, 35(4), 401-415
- Kalenkoski, C. M., & Oumtrakool, E. (2015). The caregiving responsibilities of retirees: What are they and how do they affect retirees' well-being? Texas: Texas Tech University.
- Kimball, M. S., & Shumway, T. (2010). Investor sophistication and the home bias, diversification, and employer stock puzzles.
- Klapper, L., Lusardi, A., & van Oudheusden, P. (2015). Financial Literacy around the world: Insights from the standard and poor's rating services global financial literacy survey. Washington, DC: World Bank Development Research Group.
- Klapper, L., Lusardi, A., & Panos, G. A. (2013). Financial literacy and its consequences: Evidence from Russia during the financial crisis. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, *37*(10), 3904-3923.
- Kim, J. E., & Moen, P. (2001). Is retirement good or bad for subjective wellbeing? *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 10(3), 83-86.
- Knapp, J. P. (1991). The benefits of consumer education. A survey report.Michigan: Institute of Education Sciences, Eastern Michigan University.
- Linton, R. (1936). *The study of man: An introduction*. Appleton-Century-Crofts Inc., Osmania University, India.

- Lloyd, S., Streiner, D., & Shannon, S. (1998). Predictive validity of the emergency physician and global job satisfaction instruments. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, *5*(3), 234–241.
- Lusardi, A. (2008). Financial literacy: An essential tool for informed consumer choice. Harvard: Joint Center for Housing Studies, Harvard University.
- Lusardi, A. (2015). Financial literacy: Do people know the ABCs of finance? *Public Understanding of Science*, 24(3), 260-271.
- Lusardi, A., & Beeler, J. (2006). Savings between cohorts: The role of planning. Michigan: University of Michigan.
- Lusardi, A. & Mitchell, O. S. (2005). Financial literacy and planning: Implications for retirement wellbeing. Annual DNB research conference on pensions in an ageing society. De Nederlandsche Bank, Amsterdam.
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. (2007). Financial literacy and retirement preparedness: Evidence and implications for financial education. *Business Economics*, 42(1), 35-44.
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2009). Financial literacy: Evidence and implications for financial education. TIAA-CREF Institute, United States.
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2011). Financial literacy and retirement planning in the United States. *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance*, 10(4), 509-525.
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2011). Financial literacy around the world: An overview. *Journal of Pension Economics and Finance*, 10(04), 497-508.
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2014). The economic importance of financial literacy: Theory and evidence. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *52*(1), 5-44.
- Lusardi, A., Mitchell, O. S., & Curto, V. (2010). Financial literacy among the young. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 44(2), 358-380.
- Lusardi, A., & Tufano, P. (2009). *Debt literacy, financial experiences and Over indebtedness*, (Working Paper No. 1). Dartmouth College.

- Mahdzan, N. S., & Tabiani, S. (2013). The impact of financial literacy on individual savings: An exploratory study in Malaysian context. Transformations in Business and Economics 12(1), 41-55.
- Mandell, L., & Klein, L. S. (2009). The impact of financial literacy education on subsequent financial behavior. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 20(1), 15-24.
- Menard, S. (1995). *Applied logistic regression analysis*. Sam Houston: State University Press.
- Miller, M., Godfrey, N., Levesque, B., & Stark, E. (2009). The case for financial literacy in developing countries: Promoting access to finance by empowering consumers. New York: DFID, World Bank.
- Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning (2012). Financial Sector Strategic Plan II (FINSSP II). Acera: Author.
- Ministry of Employment and Social Welfare (2010). *National ageing policy: Implementation action plan, aging with security and dignity.* Accra:

 Ministry of Employment and Social Welfare.
- Mireku, K. (2015). Financial literacy among University students: Evidence from Ghana. Department of Accounting and Finance, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Kumasi, Ghana.
- Modigliani, F. & Brumberg, R. (1954). *Utility analysis and the consumption function: An interpretation of cross-section data*. New Jersey: Rutgers University Press.
- Mullainathan, S., Noeth, M., & Schoar, A. (2012). The market for financial advice: An audit study (No. w17929). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Myers, R. H. (1990). *Classical and modern regression with applications* (2nd ed.). Boston, MA: Duxbury.
- National Pensions Act (2008). Act 766. Republic of Ghana.
- Newcomb, M. D., & Rabow, J. (1999). Gender, socialization and money. Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 29(4), 852-869.

- Okafor, E. E., & Ezeani, F. N. (2012). Empirical study of the use of automated teller machine (ATM) among bank customers in Ibadan metropolis, South Western Nigeria. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 4, 18-33.
- O'Neill, B., Sorhaindo, B., Xiao, J. J., & Garman, E. T. (2005). Financially distressed consumers: Their financial practices, financial well-being, and health. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 16(1), 73-87.
- Oppong-Boakye, P. K., & Kansanba, R. (2013). An assessment of financial literacy levels among undergraduate business students in Ghana. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 4(8), 36-50.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2005).

 Improving financial literacy: Analysis of issues and policies. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development (2006). *The importance of financial education*. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development (2009). *The case* for financial literacy in developing countries: Promoting access to finance by empowering consumers. Washington, DC: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, World Bank.
- OECD INFE (2011). Measuring financial literacy: Core questionnaire in measuring financial literacy: Questionnaire and guidance notes for conducting an internationally comparable survey of financial literacy. Paris: OECD,
- Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development (2013). Financial literacy framework, in PISA 2012 assessment and analytical framework: Mathematics, reading, science, problem solving and financial literacy. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2015).

 OECD/INFE toolkit for measuring financial literacy and financial inclusion. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org
- Osuji, C. U., & Nweze, T. (2014). A review of factors influencing teachers' perceptions and attitudes towards retirement. *Journal of Educational Policy and Entrepreneurial Research*, *I*(2), 130-143.

- Owens, D., Lacey, K., Rawls, G., & Holbert-Quince, J. A. (2010). First generation African American male college students: Implications for career counselors. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 58(4), 291-300.
- President's Advisory Council on Financial Literacy (2008). 2008 Annual report to the president. Washington D.C.: United States of America.
- Princeton Survey Research Associates. (1997). Planning for the future: Are Americans prepared to meet their financial goals? Princeton: Nations Bank Consumer Federation of America., NJ.
- Programme for International Students Assessment. (2012). *Financial literacy assessment framework*. New York: Author.
- Purohit, S. (2015). Ownership of bank accounts in India: understanding the gender gap. *International Journal of Business Quantitative Economics* and Applied Management Research, 2(3), 92-105.
- Ramsey, D. (n.d.). Guide to budgeting. How to make a budget, using the envelope system, paycheck frequency, families and budgets, you make it all work. Retrieved from www.daveramsey.com
- Reddy, S. (2010). *Financial literacy for all*. Suva, Fiji: Bank for International Settlement Review
- Remund, D. L. (2010). Financial literacy explicated: The case for a clearer definition in an increasingly complex economy. *Journal of consumer affairs*, 44(2), 276-295.
- Riffkin, R. (2014). *More Americans think they will retire comfortably*. Washington, DC. Gallup,
- Robb, C. A., & Woodyard, A. (2011). Financial knowledge and best practice behavior. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 22(1), 60-70.
- Ross, C. E., & Drentea, P. (1998). Consequences of retirement activities for distress and the sense of personal control. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 39(4), 317-334.
- Rossman, G. B., & Rallis, S. F. (2003). *Learning in the field: An introduction to qualitative research*. New York: Sage Publication.
- Rudkin, L. (1993). Gender differences in economic well-being among the elderly of Java. *Demography*, 30(2), 209-226.

- Russia Trust Fund on Financial Literacy and Education. (2013). Financial literacy and inclusion: Results of OECD/INFE survey across counties and by gender. St. Petersburg: Trust Fund on Financial Literacy and Education.
- Sabri, M. F. F. (2011). Pathways to financial success: Determinants of financial literacy and financial well-being among young adults. Iowa: State University Press.
- Sabri M. F., Cook C. C., Shelly M., Hira T. K., Garasky & Swanson P., (2011). A conceptual model of perceived financial wellbeing: Early childhood consumer experiences, financial socialization and financial knowledge pathways. Iowa: State University.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P. & Thornhill, A. (2009). *Research methods for business students* (5th ed.). Harlow: Pearson Education Limited.
- Segel-Karpas, D., Bamberger, P. A., & Bacharach, S. B. (2013). Income decline and retiree well-being: the moderating role of attachment. *Psychology and Aging*, 28(4), 1098-1107.
- Shambare, R., & Rugimbana, R. (2012). Financial literacy among the educated: An exploratory study of selected university students in South Africa. *Thunderbird International Business Review*, *54*(4), 581-590.
- Shultz, K. S., & Wang, M. (2007). The influence of specific physical health conditions on retirement decisions. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 65(2), 149-161.
- Silver, H. (2007). The process of social exclusion: The dynamics of an evolving concept. New York: Sage.
- Social Security and National Insurance Trust (2016). SSNIT pension review.

 Retrieved from http://www.ssnit.org.gh/news/2016-ssnit-pension-
- Stewart, F. & Yermo, J. (2009). *Pensions in Africa, OECD working papers on insurance and private pensions*. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Stoughton, N. M., Wu, Y., & Zechner, J. (2011). Intermediated investment management. *The Journal of Finance*, 66(3), 947-980.
- Swords, L., Merriman, B., & O'Donnell, M. (2013). Family wellbeing on a limited income: A study of families living at risk of poverty in Ireland.

 Dublin: Children's Research Centre, Trinity College Dublin.

- Taft, M. K., Hosein, Z. Z., Mehrizi, S. M. T., & Roshan, A. (2013). The relation between financial literacy, financial wellbeing and financial concerns. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(11), 63-75.
- Travers, M. (2001). *Qualitative research through case studies*. London: Sage Publication.
- Van Dijk, N., (2012). The effect of financial literacy on retirement planning, among Dutch students. (Master's Thesis, University of Amsterdam).
- Van Rooij, M., Lusardi, A., & Alessie, R. J. (2011). *Financial literacy, retirement planning, and household wealth*. Amsterdam: Netherlands De Nederlandsche Bank.
- Van Saane, N., Sluiter, J. K., Verbeek, J. H. A. M., & Frings-Dresen, M. H. W. (2003). Reliability and validity of instruments measuring job satisfaction: A systematic review. *Occupational Medicine*, 53(3), 191-200.
- Volpe, R. P., Kotel, J. E., & Chen, H. (2002). A survey of investment literacy among online investors. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 13(1), 1-16.
- Voydanoff, P. (1990). Economic distress and family relations: A review of the eighties. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 52(4), 1099-1115.
- Wang, M., & Shultz, K. S. (2010). Employee retirement: A review and recommendations for future investigation. *Journal of Management*, 36(1), 172-206.
- Wang, M., & Hesketh, B. (2012). Achieving well-being in retirement: Recommendations from 20 years of research. SIOP White Paper Series, 1(1), 11-22.
- Wang, M., Zhan, Y., Liu, S., & Shultz, K. S. (2008). Antecedents of bridge employment: A longitudinal investigation. *Journal of applied Psychology*, 93(4), 818-830.
- Way, W. L., & Holden, K. C. (2009). 2009 outstanding AFCPE conference: Teachers' background and capacity to teach personal finance: Results of a national study. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 20(2), 64-78

- Xu, L., & Zia, B. (2012). Financial literacy around the world: An overview of the evidence with practical suggestions for the way forward.

 Washington DC: World Bank Policy Research.
- Yin-Fah, B. C., Masud, J., Hamid, T. A., & Paim, L. (2010). Financial wellbeing of older peninsular Malaysians: A gender comparison. *Asian Social Science*, 6(3), 58-71.
- Yoong, F. J., See, B. L., & Baronovich, D. L. (2012). Financial literacy key to retirement planning in Malaysia. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 2(1), 75-86.
- Yu, K. M., Wu, A. M., Chan, W. S., & Chou, K. L. (2015). Gender differences in financial literacy among Hong Kong workers. *Educational Gerontology*, 41(4), 315-326.
- Zikmund, W. G., Babin, B. J., Carr, J. C. & Griffin, M. (2010). *Business research methods* (8th ed.). South-Western: Cengage Learning.
- Zissimopoulos, J. M., Karney, B., & Rauer, A. (2008). *Marital histories and economic well-being*. Michigan: Michigan Retirement Research Center.

APPENDIX

QUESTIONNAIRE

The purpose of this study is to examine financial literacy and retirement planning and preparation among Ghana Immigration Service. Please note that, your answers to the questions below will be used for academic purposes only and your responses will be treated with highest confidentiality. Please tick the appropriate box to indicate your preferred answer

Demographics	
1. Gender: □Male □Fema	ile
2. Marital status:	
☐ Married ☐ Single ☐	Separated
☐ Divorced ☐ Living with p	partner
3. Educational Level:	
☐ Middle School/ Junior High Scho	ool
School	
☐ Training College/Polytechnic	☐ University Degree
and above	
Other,	
specify	
4. Status at the time of retirement:	
☐ Top Management	
☐ Middle Management	
☐ Lower Management	
5. Did you retire at the statutory age o	r earlier?
☐ Statutory age	□Voluntary retirement

6.	How many years now since you retired?					
	Less than one year					
	☐Two years but less than 5 years					
	Five to ten years					
	☐Ten years and above					
7.	Do you have any children or dependents that you ca	ater	for	?		
	□Yes □No					
Finaı	ncial Literacy					
1.	On a scale of 1 to 5, rate the extent to which the fol	low	ing	des	crit	e
	your level of financial behaviour. Where 1= not	at all		5= Alv		lway
		1	2	3	4	5
a.	I keep track of my income and expenditure every					
	month					
b.	My spending is always based on prior planning					
c.	I assess the conditions given by financial					
	institutions before I decide to take a loan or credit					
d.	I compare interests and other benefits when					
	deciding to save my money					
e.	I seek financial advice before making major					
	financial commitments or decisions					
f.	I ask my bankers about investment opportunities					
	available in order to make investment					
g.	I take insurance policy for my investments and/or					
	myself					
h.	I cross check the interest paid either to me or by					
	me on my account					

1. What is the first thing to be considered when preparing monthly personal budget?
☐The number of dependents you have
☐Your monthly income
The number of people you owe
□None of the above
2. What is the first thing you do when you want to withdraw money the
Automated Teller Machine (ATM)?
Go to the banking hall and ask for a withdrawal form
☐ Insert your card in the ATM and wait for your money
☐ Insert your card and wait for the response
3. If you realize that an amount of money has been wrongly debited to
your bank account, what will be the first thing to do?
Go to the bank and discuss the issue with the security man on duty for
advice
☐ I will go to the ATM and check my account balance
☐ I will go to the bank and make an official complaint with the
appropriate officer and insist that it is rectified.
4. Which type of bank account usually pays the MOST interest?
□Savings account
☐Current Account
☐Certificate of deposit
☐ Chequing account
5. The interest on a loan is calculated on:
The principal amount taken
☐ On your monthly income
On the principal and the monthly income
☐None of the above

6. If you co-sign a loan for a friend, then you
☐ Become eligible to receive part of the loan amount
Guarantee for the friend's reliability but have no legal obligation for
the loan
☐Are responsible for repaying the loan if the friend defaults
7. When a cheque bounces, who, if anyone, is usually charged a fee?
☐ The one who issued the cheque
☐ The one to whom the cheque is issued
□None of the above
8. Suppose you had GH¢100 in a savings account and the interest rate is
20% per year and you never withdraw some of the money or interest
payment. After 5 years, how much would you have on this account in
total?
☐ More than GH¢ 200
☐ More than GH¢ 200 ☐ Exactly GH¢ 200
☐ Exactly GH¢ 200 ☐ Less than GH¢ 200
□ Exactly GH¢ 200
☐ Exactly GH¢ 200 ☐ Less than GH¢ 200
☐ Exactly GH¢ 200 ☐ Less than GH¢ 200 ☐ Do not know
 □ Exactly GH¢ 200 □ Less than GH¢ 200 □ Do not know 9. If five (5) friends have a gift of GH¢1,000 to share equally and they
 □ Exactly GH¢ 200 □ Less than GH¢ 200 □ Do not know 9. If five (5) friends have a gift of GH¢1,000 to share equally and they have to wait until next year to get their share of the money. If the rate
 □ Exactly GH¢ 200 □ Less than GH¢ 200 □ Do not know 9. If five (5) friends have a gift of GH¢1,000 to share equally and they have to wait until next year to get their share of the money. If the rate of inflation increases, will they be able to buy:
 □ Exactly GH¢ 200 □ Less than GH¢ 200 □ Do not know 9. If five (5) friends have a gift of GH¢1,000 to share equally and they have to wait until next year to get their share of the money. If the rate of inflation increases, will they be able to buy: □ More with their share of the money
 □ Exactly GH¢ 200 □ Less than GH¢ 200 □ Do not know 9. If five (5) friends have a gift of GH¢1,000 to share equally and they have to wait until next year to get their share of the money. If the rate of inflation increases, will they be able to buy: □ More with their share of the money □ The same amount;
 □ Exactly GH¢ 200 □ Less than GH¢ 200 □ Do not know 9. If five (5) friends have a gift of GH¢1,000 to share equally and they have to wait until next year to get their share of the money. If the rate of inflation increases, will they be able to buy: □ More with their share of the money □ The same amount; □ Less than they could buy today
 □ Exactly GH¢ 200 □ Less than GH¢ 200 □ Do not know 9. If five (5) friends have a gift of GH¢1,000 to share equally and they have to wait until next year to get their share of the money. If the rate of inflation increases, will they be able to buy: □ More with their share of the money □ The same amount; □ Less than they could buy today

	Provide you with excellent investment returns					
	Protect you from sustaining a catastrophic loss					
	Protect you from small incidental losses					
	Improve your standard of living					
Pro	eparation towards retirement					
On	a scale of 1 to 5, rate the extent to which the following of	lesc	ribe	yo	ur	
pre	paration towards retirement. Where 1= not at all true of	me		5	= ve	ery
tru	e of me					
		1	2	3	4	5
1.	Apart from the SSNIT contribution, I had investments					
	in stocks, bonds, and mutual funds to cushion my					
	pension					
2.	I established my own business as preparation towards					
	retirement					
3.	I invested in my children so that they would take care					
٥.	of me when I retire					
	of the when I fettie					
4.	I took a health insurance policy to cover me whiles					
	working and after retirement					

Financial Well-being

accessed after retirement

5.

On a scale of 1 to 5, rate the extent to which the following describe your financial well-being. Where 1 = not at all true of me, 5 = very true of me

I did a special life time savings, specifically to be

Putting away money each month for savings or

investments was important and necessary for me

		1	2	3	4	5
1.	I am comfortable with the current income I receive from the Government					
2.	I am comfortable with my current debt level					
3.	My current finances enable me to cater for myself and my dependents					
4.	My monthly income is enough to pay my bills regularly					
5.	I have other revenue apart from what I receive from the Government					
6.	I do not have financial problems that are negatively affecting my life					
7.	I am confident about the financial decisions I make and feel in control of my finances					
8.	I am able to absorb any financial shocks because I have savings for that					
9.	I feel capable of using my income to achieve my financial goals					
10.	I have the financial freedom to make the choices that allow me to enjoy life					
11.	I can continue to cover my living expenses, without borrowing any money for six months if Government does not pay me					
12.	I often run out of money from previous income before I get another money					
13.	I am satisfied with my overall economic conditions					